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<THE HEARING COMMENCED AT 10.14 AM
COMMISSIONER: Yes.

MS McDONALD: I call Robert Bennett.
COMMISSIONER: Yes.

MR RAMRAKHA: Commissioner, with leave, just - I seek -
COMMISSIONER: Yes. Thank you.

MR RAMRAKHA: - leave to appear for Mr Bennett.

COMMISSIONER: Thank you. Would you like to take an oath or affirmation,
Mr Bennett.

MR BENNETT: An oath.
COMMISSIONER: An oath. Yes.

<Robert Bennett, SWORN

MS McDONALD: Please state your full name.
MR BENNETT: Robert Bennett.

MS McDONALD: Your current occupation?

MR BENNETT: I'm with Liverpool City Council as a coordinator of certification
unit.

MS McDONALD: Sorry a coordinator of -
MR BENNETT: Certification unit.

COMMISSIONER: Mr Bennett, could I trouble you just to keep your voice up just
a touch. The acoustics aren't the best in here. Thank you.

MS McDONALD: And under the current organisational structure at Liverpool City
Council, which directorate do you work under?

MR BENNETT: It's been known as Planning and Compliance.
MS McDONALD: And who's the director?

MR BENNETT: Lina Kakish.
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MS McDONALD: I'll ask you some questions about your background. Without
going into great detail, your work experience, has it been mainly in Local
Government?

MR BENNETT: Yes, it has.

MS McDONALD: Have you worked in a number of different local councils?
MR BENNETT: Yes, I've worked at a couple of councils. Yes.

MS McDONALD: When did you commence working at Liverpool City Council?
MR BENNETT: November 2017.

MS McDONALD: When you commenced at Liverpool City Council, what was your
role?

MR BENNETT: It was - back then it was called team leader of Building and
Compliance.

MS McDONALD: Building and Compliance. I'll take you - just a very potted
history of your work - career at Liverpool. You were the team leader Building and
Compliance. What was involved in that role?

MR BENNETT: So I oversaw the building surveyors, which is known as building
certifiers as well, and the compliance team, who investigate unauthorised
development and (indistinct) not in accordance with council approvals.

MS McDONALD: Would you excuse me. The acoustics in - even though it's a
courtroom, the acoustics are very poor. Could you try and speak up? Thanks.

COMMISSIONER: Mr Operator, can we see if we can get some more
amplification as well? Thank you.

MS McDONALD: So that team leader position, it - the way you described it, it
seemed to have two areas. The building surveying and certification, and then a
compliance enforcement function?

MR BENNETT: That's correct. Yes.
MS McDONALD: How long were you in that role for?
MR BENNETT: I have been in - I was in that role till probably about 22 - 2022. It

was around there. Actually, I think - when did they change it? Might have been
pre-then. It may have been around pre-COVID. I'm just trying to think of the date,
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sorry, but they did change the position title to being a coordinator, but the same
coordinator - Building and Compliance in that time.

MS McDONALD: Sorry, the coordinator was over both areas?
MR BENNETT: Over both areas, yes.

MS McDONALD: At some stage, did you lose the responsibility for building
surveying and certification?

MR BENNETT: No, I've kept that side of it. There was a minor restructure, where
the compliance side was moved to a different coordinator.

MS McDONALD: Sorry, I got the one mixed up. Roughly when did that occur?

MR BENNETT: I can't remember the dates on that one, sorry. It might have been a
bit earlier - I said 22 - it might have been 2019, maybe. Don't recall the exact date,

sorry.

MS McDONALD: So you lost the enforcement compliance function, you think,
roughly around 2019?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Could we bring up, please, an organisational chart.
INQ.001.001.1264. And this can be live streamed. Now, Mr Bennett, we've received
a number of organisational structures over a number of years. This one - the note |
have on it - it was August 2022, but I'm going to be asking you some questions about
events in December 2022 and then through - sorry, earlier in 2022 and also into
2023. Just roughly - and I think we're concentrating more on the directorates - which
directorate were you - did you come under?

MR BENNETT: The Planning and Compliance directorate.

MS McDONALD: And the section underneath Planning and Compliance, was that
Community Standards?

MR BENNETT: Yes, it was.

MS McDONALD: And again, roughly around 2022/2023, to whom did you directly
report?

MR BENNETT: At that time my direct report would have been the manager of
Community Standards, which was Nada Mardini.

MS McDONALD: And you had people who reported to you?
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MR BENNETT: Yes, I did.

MS McDONALD: Now, just completing this history of your work, could we bring
up another organisational structure. LCC.002 - sorry, 002.010.2298, please. It can be
live streamed. Now, this structure is dated January 2025. I know since then this is
amended, because the council has abolished at least two directorates, but your
location - or your section's location within a directorate has remained the same?

MR BENNETT: Yes, it has.

MS McDONALD: And which directorate are you in again?

MR BENNETT: So that's the Planning and Compliance directorate, then
Community Standards under that.

MS McDONALD: Again under Community Standards. Within Community
Standards, the enforcement and compliance work, does that still come under that
section?

MR BENNETT: Yes, it does.

MS McDONALD: So although you're not the coordinator or team leader for that,
the people engaged in compliance and enforcement are working in the same section?

MR BENNETT: Yes. That is correct. Yes.

MS McDONALD: And your work at the moment, what does it involve?

MR BENNETT: So once I have the building surveyors and certifiers - and that also
takes into account swimming pool safety as well. That's, I suppose, part of the
building surveying area.

MS McDONALD: And how many people do you have reporting to you?

MR BENNETT: Currently I have eight people.

MS McDONALD: Sorry?

MR BENNETT: Currently I have eight people. I've just had one person resign and
finish up this week, so -

MS McDONALD: Okay. Do you have any vacancies?
MR BENNETT: Yes, I do.

MS McDONALD: How many vacancies?
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MR BENNETT: Including the one this week, it'd be five.

MS McDONALD: So the positions in your section - about 13?
MR BENNETT: Yes, around there.

MS McDONALD: With five vacancies.

MR BENNETT: I have had one position removed from my team permanently as
well. So that would be a vacancy but it's no longer in my area.

MS McDONALD: So roughly -
MR BENNETT: Down to about 12.

COMMISSIONER: What's the day-to-day nature of the work? I understand the
general concept, but what does your team do on a day-to-day basis?

MR BENNETT: So our team assesses a range of applications. They (indistinct)
development applications, construction certificates, complying development
certificates, occupation certificates, building information certificates, hoardings,
tower cranes. The swimming pool officer deals with swimming pool safety, pool
compliance certificates. We do critical stage inspections. So all those things to do
with, I suppose, new building work.

MS McDONALD: Mr Bennett, [ want to ask you first some general questions about
how complaints that are made to the council which allege - for example, an
unauthorised use or an unauthorised structure being erected on a property, how those
complaints are dealt with, just the various steps. So stop number 1 is somehow a
complaint is made - or it could be an observation of a member of staff.

MR BENNETT: Yes. So we could have external or internal complaints. So as you
said, it could be - a member of the public may raise something with us, or it could be
a matter of an officer, in carrying out their duties, sees something and report it.

MS McDONALD: Once the complaint is made, what's the next step?

MR BENNETT: So in our system we generally create a customer request - in our
pathway system, and that would normally go to the relevant team to be delegated - or
I shouldn't say "delegated" - assigned to an officer to investigate, follow up.

MS McDONALD: After it's been assigned for investigation to an officer - again, I'm
just dealing with it generally - what are the next possible steps?

MR BENNETT: So normally we'd do a desktop assessment to review previous
history on the property, maybe look at aerial images. That would be the most
efficient way before you go out on site. Then we would either try to make contact
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with the owner or occupier of the premises, or if - failing that, we may just attend the
property to carry out an initial investigation, to see if there's anything to substantiate
the allegations.

MS McDONALD: If after attending the site and observing what is either
constructed or the use at the property at the time - if the observation is that, for
example, there is what appears to be an unauthorised use, what are the next steps?

MR BENNETT: So aside from the usual discussing it with any people on site, we'd
normally look at issuing a notice of intention to serve an order and follow that up
with an order. Do you want me to keep going through the process or -

MS McDONALD: So first step is notice to issue a -
MR BENNETT: Yes, notice of intention to issue the order.
MS McDONALD: And then you said next step would be issuing the order?

MR BENNETT: So if there were representations made, we would consider those.
But if in the fact there was obviously an offence there we would go ahead - to issue
the order. We may change timeframes, depending on what - any submissions that
may come in in the notice period.

MS McDONALD: So the notice to issue the order, in a - has the effect of alerting
the relevant party that it is considered that there is a problem or a non-compliance
that allows representations to be made. And if representations aren't made or if they
are made and the investigator doesn't consider them to be adequate, a - the notice is
then actually issued?

MR BENNETT: The order would be issued.
MS McDONALD: Sorry?
MR BENNETT: The order.

MS McDONALD: The order is issued. And what type of orders can be issued at that
point?

MR BENNETT: So for an illegal use, as you're suggesting, that would most likely
be a stop use. If there are works occurring on site it could be stop works. It could also
be a demolish works. It could be restore works. But once again, it depends whether
it's just a use or whether there's been physical works as well.

MS McDONALD: Now, also as part of the investigation, is there is a power to
compel the provision of information?
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MR BENNETT: Yes. Council can request information verbally or in writing, and
it's - and so we can issue a notice to pretty much any party to provide information to
council.

MS McDONALD: And if the order is issued, I assume there's a time period within
which it's got to be complied with?

MR BENNETT: Council would normally set a time period in an order, taking into
account the works involved and a reasonable time for whatever the risk may be there.

MS McDONALD: If the order is complied with, is there some kind of inspection to
confirm that?

MR BENNETT: It would be normal practice that we would inspect it to confirm
that, or - there may be other ways to address that as well, but most times it would be
an inspection.

MS McDONALD: So if it's complied with, does that mean it's the end of the matter?

MR BENNETT: That, once again, depends on the matter. There is provision where
council can retrieve costs for issuing orders, or may issue penalties for the offence as
well. Or there could be a prosecution, depending on the scope.

MS McDONALD: We'll come to that in a sec. So if the order is complied with, your
answer - you just gave evidence it's not necessarily the end of the matter. If the order
is not complied with, what are the steps after that?

MR BENNETT: Well, we would normally issue a - what they call a final warning.
In most times, it'd give seven or 14 days for the respondent to advise council why we
shouldn't provide with further action, either being a penalty or prosecution.

MS McDONALD: And you just referred to issuing a penalty or a prosecution. The
reference to penalty, what's that a reference to?

MR BENNETT: So that's a penalty infringement notice. Very similar to what the
police and other government agencies can issue for, you know, breaches of
legislation.

MS McDONALD: The prosecution, is that through a court attendance notice or the
issuing of a court attendance notice?

MR BENNETT: That would be the next step, yes.

MS McDONALD: And a court attendance notice - these types of matters are usually
dealt summarily before the Local Court?
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MR BENNETT: The majority, yes. There could be instances where it's Land and
Environment, but most times it'd be Local Court.

MS McDONALD: To prosecute in the Land and Environment Court, I take it it's got
to be a more serious breach?

MR BENNETT: A lot more serious and a lot more evidence, definitely.

MS McDONALD: And who determines - I'm sorry, withdraw that. The
determination of whether they'll be a penalty notice or a court attendance notice,
what determines that choice?

MR BENNETT: We do have internal procedures that we sort of follow generally,
but there is discretion with officers as well. So if an officer feels that, you know,
maybe there's previous offences with this person - that they may take a bit more of a
serious avenue than just a penalty, but most times they would just follow procedure,
which would be a penalty.

MS McDONALD: And if the court attendance notice is issued, the actual
prosecution - is that then referred to a legal team within council?

MR BENNETT: Yes, council has its own internal legal team.

MS McDONALD: Now, [ want to take you to two properties and some particular
events that occurred in 2021, 2022 and 2023. The first property I want to ask you
about is 370 Fifteenth Avenue, Austral. In the respect of that property, in 2021 were
there - did the council undertake some of those preliminary steps of, after there was
some kind of complaint raised, issuing a notice to issue an order, then issuing an
order?

MR BENNETT: Yes. That's correct.

MS McDONALD: And I'll bring up a document, please. LCC.004.003.0854. And it
can be live streamed. You can see there it's a letter with Re Stop Use Order. It's
addressed to Future Form Group Proprietary Limited, but for the attention of
Mohamed Nabil Hafza, director. That's correct?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And you can see up the right-hand side the date is 26 May 2021.
MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then if we can just proceed down that first page, it refers to

a notice of proposed stop use order served in March of that year. That was the
document that you referred to previously?
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MR BENNETT: That's right. Yes.

MS McDONALD: It then gets out, in a sense, the responses that were received. So
you can see representations by an authorised representative. Additional time was
provided by the council, and then in May a search of the records failed to reveal any
further representations, and that led to the stop use order now being issued.

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And if we can go through to page 3 of that document. This is the
actual stop use order; is that correct?

MR BENNETT: That's right. Yes. Yes. The other one was just the covering letter.
That's right.

MS McDONALD: And you can see there - again, it's referring to the address of 370
Fifteenth Avenue, addressed to Future Form Group. And then it says:

"To do what: To stop using the premises as a Storage Premises by removing all
building materials, formwork materials, metal materials, timber materials, trucks,
trailers [et cetera] and all other materials and machinery associated with the activity

being conducted on site being a Storage Premises."

And then if we just look down towards the bottom of the page, after the reasons for
the order there is a time period stipulated for compliance?

MR BENNETT: That's right.
MS McDONALD: Now -

COMMISSIONER: [s storage premises something that's defined in the code or
the - some piece of legislation? Does it have a particular meaning.

MR BENNETT: Yes. So it's defined under the Liverpool Local Environmental Plan.
Each council has their own plan and we normally try and use those definitions.

MS McDONALD: I'll take you to another series of documents. This is
LCC.004.004.2622. Just while that's coming up -

MR ANDREWS: (Indistinct).
COMMISSIONER: Sorry, Mr Andrews, can you just raise your voice a touch.
MR ANDREWS: Sorry, Commissioner.

COMMISSIONER: That's all right.
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MR ANDREWS: May this document just be shown in the room at this point in
time? It's a brief of evidence, I understand, in relation to a prosecution. I'm still
taking instructions as to whether or not that prosecution is ongoing. I suspect it's not.

COMMISSIONER: I see.

MS McDONALD: Maybe if I can just - it's in the annual report, at page 104.

MR ANDREWS: I'm grateful to my learned friend.

COMMISSIONER: Are we going to the annual report or the brief?

MS McDONALD: Sorry. I was going to the brief -

COMMISSIONER: I see.

MS McDONALD: - because within the brief there are certain documents that are
relevant. This particular prosecution is the second prosecution, and we determined
that the result was in - was recorded in the '23/'24 annual report.

COMMISSIONER: Okay.

MR ANDREWS: I'm grateful to my learned friend. There are 76 documents that
have just been uploaded -

COMMISSIONER: Sure.

MR ANDREWS: - to - for the portal. We are still taking instructions in relation to
documents.

COMMISSIONER: All right. Let's just tread carefully. We can just deal with it in
the room rather than having it live streamed, and that'll - instructions can be obtained
in the background.

MS McDONALD: Yes. That's fine.

COMMISSIONER: It may be that the position you say is right, but let's just tread
cautiously.

MR ANDREWS: May I also indicate there are some documents in relation to which
we might need to take a short adjournment to seek some instructions - on potential
privilege claims as well.

COMMISSIONER: All right. Well, you'll let me know if and when that arises, and
all of that can be accommodated.
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MS McDONALD: Just before I take you to certain documents - or certain pages of
this document - is it your understanding that in respect of that property 370

Fifteenth Avenue - and I'm putting this broadly - there was a prosecution towards the
beginning of 2022, which resulted - there was a plea of guilty, conviction, sentence, |
think in about April 2022.

MR BENNETT: So I'm aware of that, yes.

MS McDONALD: And then subsequently, there was another prosecution in respect
of the same property - that 370 Fifteenth Avenue.

MR BENNETT: I'm not sure if I'm aware of the second prosecution, but certainly I
know there was a prosecution.

MS McDONALD: All right. I'm taking you to some documents in this bundle that
might assist. If we go through to page LCC.004 - sorry, it's page 13 of the document.
Now, just pausing there, this is a statement of facts in that second prosecution. The
reason why I want to take you to this document is there's a neat summary of the first
prosecution.

MR BENNETT: Okay.

MS McDONALD: So if we can go through to page 17 -

MR RAMRAKHA: Commissioner, that doesn't - I mean, I can't see the full
document, but that doesn't look like a statement of facts in a - looks like a statement
of a witness.

COMMISSIONER: I think that's right, but I'm not -

MR RAMRAKHA: All I can see is -

COMMISSIONER: - sure much turns on it at the moment.

MR RAMRAKHA: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: We'll just go through to the page and then we'll see what we
get to.

MR RAMRAKHA: All I can see is the first line of the jurat (indistinct).

COMMISSIONER: As I say, you - I think you're right, but I'm not sure much turns
on it at the moment.

MS McDONALD: Can we go through to page 17. And can we see the heading, if
we move down the page, First Prosecution of Defendant to Fail to Comply With Stop
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Use Order Development Control Order. And I will just - if you just look very quickly
at the details there:

"25 May, I issued a stop use order."

With a particular number. Excuse me for a minute. And then the order required the
defendant to stop using the premises as storage premises, and then it repeats that part
of the stop use order that I just read out to you. Then it continues:

"I inspected the property to confirm whether it's been complied with, formed the
view the company had not complied with the stop use order."

And then if we go to the next page:

"On 22 January, a court attendance notice was issued on the defendant for failure to
comply with the order. The defendant entered a plea of guilty, and on 20 April 2022
a magistrate convicted the defendant and imposed a fine."

Do you see that?
MR BENNETT: Yes, I do.

MS McDONALD: And then during the sentence proceedings - there's a reference to
some evidence and a submission by the defendant's solicitor, advising that the
company had complied with the order and moved from the property to new premises,
and a copy of the transcript is also within this bundle. Now - excuse me. Just for
some background, if we go back to page 14 in this document - this again is some
background, but you can see under paragraph 6 there's a reference to the SEPP.

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: That - and then underneath, after identifying that the property
was zoned R3 medium density residential and RE1 public recreation growth centre,
it then sets out zone R3; correct?

MR BENNETT: It does, yes.

MS McDONALD: And then you've got "objectives of zone", "permitted without
consent", "permitted with consent". And then if we go to the next page, you've got
"prohibited".

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: About six lines from the bottom - and it's all in alphabetical
order - can you see "storage premises"?

MR BENNETT: I can, yes.
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MS McDONALD: And in answer to the Commissioner's question, the use or the
reference to storage premises, that picks up the prohibited use in the SEPP?

MR BENNETT: So normally whether it's - sorry, an LEP or a SEPP, it will say
what's permitted and what's not permissible. So that's where those definitions come
in.

MS McDONALD: Right. Okay. Just excuse me for a minute. I referred you to - or
I - a second prosecution of - arising from use of the property at 370

Fifteenth Avenue. Would you please bring up LCC.001.005.676 - 0676. Excuse me
for a minute. Sorry, Commissioner.

COMMISSIONER: It's all right.

MS McDONALD: Court attendance notice. You can see this is one - well, it was
received by the courthouse in about April 2023?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: If we go down the page, you can see the details of the defendant,
Future Form Group Australia. And then if we move down to the details of the
offence - stop there, please. We've got:

"On or about 21 April, continuing daily."
And under Short Particulars you can see it's referring to that same property, 370?
MR BENNETT: I can. Yes.

MS McDONALD: And that - then it refers to the stop use of land as storage
premises, issued on 26 May 2021.

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And if we could then bring up INQ.001.001.0354. Sorry,
Commissioner, we're just - no, we won't, but just for abundant caution at the
moment. And that's the annual report. If we go through to page 104 - if you

move - sorry, if you go to the - if you jump to 93 first. Can you see we've got
Summary of state of progress. No, towards the bottom of the page, summary of legal
proceeding outcomes.

MR BENNETT: Yes, I can.

MS McDONALD: And then if we go through to page 104 and then through to - I
think it's towards the bottom of that page. Yes, 112. It refers to Liverpool City
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Council v Future Form, failure to comply with stop use order, finalised, and a
penalty and costs order.

MR BENNETT: I can see that.

COMMISSIONER: Sorry, just to recap - so there's been two?

MS McDONALD: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: Same defendant?

MS McDONALD: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: Same property?

MS McDONALD: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: The first one, a fine of 30,000 or thereabouts?
MS McDONALD: 30,000.

COMMISSIONER: And the second - or penalty, fine, whatever the language is.
And the second, a penalty of 45,000 with costs?

MS McDONALD: Yes. And there were, sorry, costs in the first one as well.
COMMISSIONER: Thank you.

MS McDONALD: Could we just bring back LCC.004.004.2622. And if we'd go
through to page 34. In this brief of evidence, which was for the second prosecution,
they include the transcript from the first prosecution. So you can see it was before the
Local Court, the first prosecution on 20 April. And if you go through to page 42, you
can see a conviction entered. And if you move down the page - yes. You've got the
30,000 plus costs.

COMMISSIONER: Thank you.

MS McDONALD: And also as part of this prosecution brief for the second
prosecution, if we can go to the next page, we've got some photos. And you can see,
as identified in the index, they're photographs of the site on 21 April 2022 - that is
370 Fifteenth Avenue.

MR BENNETT: That is 370, yes.

MS McDONALD: And if we just very quickly go pages 44, 45, 46, 47 and 48.
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COMMISSIONER: I can see a shed-type structure there, Mr Bennett. Were there
any other permanent structures on the site?

MR BENNETT: There may have been some minor (indistinct) structures. I didn't
actually inspect the property.

COMMISSIONER: I see.

MR BENNETT: There was an - it was an officer investigating, but I have seen a
number of photos about it, so -

COMMISSIONER: Thank you.

MS McDONALD: Now, I wanted to - I want to leave now 370 Fifteenth Avenue.
There is an associated property, 615 Fifteenth Avenue.

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And I'm putting it broadly to begin with, there were some
complaints about use of that property and also, I think, some structures on the

property.

MR BENNETT: Yes, there were certainly use structures, and I believe earthworks
as well.

MS McDONALD: And what was the last -
MR BENNETT: Earthworks.

MS McDONALD: And you have some involvement in - in this - sorry, in this issue,
particularly over the period - I think it's December/January 20227

MR BENNETT: Yes. So at different times I've had either involvement of
supervising investigators in the compliance team or even as acting manager from
time to time - that may have come up as well.

MS McDONALD: All right. Now, when I asked you questions about the broad
procedure, where there's a complaint and what occurs, you spoke about a complaints
file being opened.

MR BENNETT: We have a system that electronically stores them, yes.
MS McDONALD: Would you please bring up - can you excuse me for a minute.

I'm moving to a different property. I just asked my learned friend whether we could
start live streaming these. Maybe you can explain the -
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MR ANDREWS: Commissioner, the short answer is I don't yet have instructions on
the documents that have been uploaded this morning. We have indicated to solicitors
assisting certain privilege claims - the document that's about to be shown, I believe,
is perhaps unlikely to be the subject of a privilege claim - I think I can indicate that at
this point in time, but I'm just not sure if there may be another reason or basis for a
non-publication order.

COMMISSIONER: Well, let's bring it up in the room first, and then you can see
what it is and those instructing you can see what it is.

MR ANDREWS: I'm grateful, Commissioner.

COMMISSIONER: And if there's a need for further instructions we can take that
step, or if it's okay to be live streamed we can take that step.

MR ANDREWS: Grateful.

MS McDONALD: Right. Can we bring up, please, LCC.004.003.0704. Can you see
that's a Liverpool City Council document, request for building inspection,
complaints, with a request number? The location this time is 615 Fifteenth Avenue.

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And if we just then move down this first page - just stopping
there. It gives the details that it was - a receiving officer received the complaint on 13
July. The request type was "unauthorised works", and it would appear that David

Day has been appointed the investigative officer. Is that a proper description?

MR BENNETT: That's right. Yes. Possibly at that time David may have only - been
the only investigating officer I had as well, so -

MS McDONALD: All right. And just first trying to get some details of how this
document works, if we just have a look at the bottom of the page, we've got Ami
Murthy, 13 July, and then we've got:

"Created new CR, as requested by David Day."

And then there's:

"Hi Ami, can you please create a new CR for this address?"

And then:

"Unauthorised use of premises by Future Form..."

Et cetera. Again broadly, is this like a running log of the investigation?
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MR BENNETT: This would be the starting point. And as you said, yes, the
customer requests - we have stores, as I said - I suppose contemporaneous notes as
we go along.

MS McDONALD: Right.

COMMISSIONER: This is a digital system in the council's platform?

MR BENNETT: It is. Yes. It's in our Pathways system. Yes.
COMMISSIONER: I'm sorry, it's -

MR BENNETT: It's in our (indistinct) called Pathways, and it is a digital record.

COMMISSIONER: And it allows the progress to be tracked, and you or your team
to enter notes as certain things happen?

MR BENNETT: As you do in the old days with a file and you put a note on it. This
is the electronic version.

COMMISSIONER: Thank you.

MS McDONALD: If you go to page 2 of the document - [ want to take you to the
entry - and is this the way it works? You've got David Day, you've got 9 August, at
11.20. But immediately underneath, there seems to be a file note of observations he
made on 6 July?

MR BENNETT: Yes. Sometimes officers don't always get to put their notes in the
system straightaway.

MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR BENNETT: The preference is to do it straightaway, but not always, depending
on workload.

MS McDONALD: And just looking at this entry, this appears to be Mr Day's
observations of earthworks being carried out at six - sorry. Sorry. He talks about:

"Observed earthworks being carried out, discussed with Mohamed Hafza, director,
during inspection of 370 Fifteenth Avenue to confirm that they were also occupying
this property and were undertaking the earthworks to facilitate the use as storage
premises. No approvals or consents. Notice of entry drafted, stop works order drafted
for service once lockdown lifted."

So that - just reading that, that suggests that it's observations and information
obtained by Mr Day, and that's led to the creation of this complaint file?
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MR BENNETT: Yes. So as you may have noted in some of the previous
documents, there was a statement to the court that they'd ceased use of 370. I
remember David Day discussing with me that he'd observed that those works haven't
ceased on the site. So this would be a subsequent inspection. During that, he's
obviously had either a conversation or become aware that they're moving to 615.

MS McDONALD: Commissioner, I'm grateful to my learned friend. We've been
given an indication this can be live streamed.

COMMISSIONER: Excellent. Thank you.
MS McDONALD: Now, we then have an entry on 6 October, with:
"NOPO stop works issued, notice of entry issued."

And if I cross-reference to document LCC.004.003.0154 - and it can be live
streamed. That was the notice of proposed stop work order. I think if we go to the top
of that page we might be able to see the reference number and the details. So this is
how it works - that the running log or the investigation log records this is going to be
issued, and then that's the - an actual copy of the notice of proposed stop work order?

MR BENNETT: That's right. In our system we have that customer request number,
which is our tracking of all the notes. When we actually start a notice or an order, it
generates a number, and that's what we save all our documents under in our record
system for that matter.

MS McDONALD: If we'd jump back to LCC.004.003.0704, at page 2. I just want to
take you to the long entry by David Day, 6 October, at 15.40. Can you see that
there's further - he says on that day he called Nabil Hafza and sets out his
conversation with him. You can see Mr Day says:

"We will also be investigating the illegal works to the shed, wastewater system..."
And then a reference to:

"...the lodging of the DA was irrelevant to the works continuing."

And then, if we go across the page, there's a reference to submitting some kind of
DA. And then you can see that Mr Hafza says:

"I don't know what to do. You guys want me out of 370, but I can't move into 615."
Et cetera.

MR BENNETT: Yes, I can see that.
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MS McDONALD: And then if we look at the rest of that page - and I'll just take you
to this very quickly, but you - if you very quickly look at the entries Mr Day has
made, it appears that his investigation is continuing. You can see he's

taking - attending under a notice of entry and taking some photos. You can see on 8
October a stop use and demolish works notice has been issued. Then if we go across
the page, up to page 4, right at the top we've got a stop works order number 701/2021
issued. Then we've got an entry where he says:

"Email chain provided by a Frank Mosca regarding unauthorised uses."

And then you can see the next part of it appears to be an address from Frank - an
email from Frank Mosca.

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: This kind of email chain then continues for a number of pages.
Again, is this part of this investigation log that if something like that is provided by a
person under investigation or one of their advisers it can be incorporated into the
log?

MR BENNETT: Yes. Different officers will handle it in different ways. Some may
just make reference to a document that's stored separately in our records system,
others will cut and paste the whole extract. So each one does it differently.

MS McDONALD: Okay. And then if we jump to page 10, at 2 November - the
second entry for 2 November, you can see there's a reference to an email being
received from Yasmin Hafza, advising demountable buildings will be removed, and
that appears to have been cut and paste - pasted?

MR BENNETT: It would appear to be, yes.
MS McDONALD: And then if we go down the bottom of the page, we've then got
Mr Day's response. And if we go across to page 11, he thanks her for the email and

says:

"As a courtesy, I advise that a notice to produce information and records was issued
and no response has been received."

And then if we continue down that page, on 5 November you've got:
"Final warning NTPI issued."
And then if we go across the page to 12 - I'm sorry, to be fair I should go back to the

bottom of page 11. There appears to be a cut and paste of an email from one of the
advisers, saying that he would like:
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"I and the landowners would very much like to take you up on your offers to meet
and discuss compliance further with you."

And then if you go across to - the page, you've got David Day saying that he advised
the - sorry, the - Gilbert, the planning consultant - that given the current situation, it
would be best - I think that's for the notice to produce information to be provided in
writing, noting the deadline of 9th of the 11th. And then if we can just go down to 13
December and 13 January, we've got on 13 December number 800/2021 issued. And
if you can bring up this document, LCC.004.003.0180. Yes. And you can see the
date, 13 December, a stop use order and demolish works order has been issued?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And where the council has got with the procedure there - is that
if that's not complied with or if representations aren't made, received - if there's a
breach of that order, that's when you then turn your mind to a penalty notice or
maybe court attendance notice?

MR BENNETT: That's right. Normally at the end of the order period, even though
(indistinct) normally (indistinct) under a notice, people may contact us to say,
"We've almost finished, just need a little extra time," and the officer can consider
whether we go straight into a further action or whether we hold off for a little longer.
But certainly, if it's not complied with, the next steps would be to pursue some sort
of action.

MS McDONALD: Now, I want to now move to January 2022. Around 17 January.
You were working in that period?

MR BENNETT: Yes, I was.

MS McDONALD: Can you recall if - were you in any kind of - working in any kind
of relieving position at that time?

MR BENNETT: January '22 - I don't recall working in relieving positions then. I
may have been, because at different times different officers would relief for the
manager, but I don't think I was in 22 - in January.

MS McDONALD: All right. I'll take you through to a document,
LCC.033.002.0001. Yes. And if we can go through to page 9, please. This is an
email dated 17 January from Lauren Myers, and you can see there she was the - at
this point the executive assistant to the mayor.

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And if we look at it, it's addressed to David Smith, Sheela Naidu,
with a copy to a Steven Tuntevski, and the subject is:
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"Urgent request for meeting and briefing note - 615 Fifteenth Avenue."

David Smith, at that time, what was his role?

MR BENNETT: He was the director of Planning and Compliance.

MS McDONALD: Sheela?

MR BENNETT: She was his EA, executive assistant.

MS McDONALD: And Steven Tuntevski?

MR BENNETT: At that time he would have been the acting manager of
Community Standards. So his normal role was coordinator of Environmental Health,
but he would have been acting at that time.

MS McDONALD: And you can see in the document:

"The Mayor has received representation from Nabil Hafza from Fifteenth Avenue
Developments regarding 615 ... requesting a meeting tomorrow at 9.30 am..."

And then there's a reference to NO-1036/2021.

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Is that reference to an order that's been -

MR BENNETT: That would be a notice or an order. So most likely an order.
MS McDONALD:

"I'll find an alternative time for meeting given the short notice."

And then:

"Can we please get an urgent briefing note on the issues with this property?"
MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Now, if we'd then go to page 8 in that document. An email from
Steven Tuntevski, same day but about 10 minutes later, this time addressed to you.

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: With:
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"Hi Robert, as per our conversation, can you please provide a briefing note in
relation to this matter."

Your reference to a "briefing note", what is that?

MR BENNETT: So it's basically just a background history of a matter. If someone's
coming in about a meeting with the council or the mayor - even just the CEO, if they
want to approach council directly, we'll provide a background so that they're
prepared for that meeting and know the history of the matter.

COMMISSIONER: Does that happen from time to time?

MR BENNETT: It does. I have to admit it happens a lot in Liverpool, but, yes, it's
quite common in councils.

COMMISSIONER: It happens a lot or doesn't happen a lot?
MR BENNETT: It does happen a lot.

COMMISSIONER: In Liverpool?

MR BENNETT: At Liverpool, yes.

COMMISSIONER: Have you - you'll have to remind me - you've been involved
with other councils or -

MR BENNETT: I have worked at other councils.
COMMISSIONER: And is it the same in other councils?
MR BENNETT: It has been. Yes.

MS McDONALD: And you prepared the briefing note?

MR BENNETT: I did, on this one. Well, an email for the inclusion of the briefing
note.

MS McDONALD: All right. In this document, if we go through to page 3 - right
down towards the bottom, we've got an email from you, same day but about an hour
and a bit later. You say:

"There is some history to this operator which I'll try and summarise below. [We've
had previous dealings about 370] that was being used as storage premises which
[have] been referred to Legal Services."

And then I won't take you through the details, but you've got 615 and all the various
notices and other matters that have been raised?

LCC Inquiry —20.11.2025 P-3496 Transcript by Law In Order



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: If we go across the page, you've got two images. Is that the case?
You've got that one, and then if we go to page 5, another -

MR BENNETT: Yes. So the first image is the site before any works occurred on it,
as it was, and then a more, I suppose, relevant photo after works commenced.

MS McDONALD: And then at the bottom of this page 5, you talk about 370
Fifteenth Avenue and the various actions taken there. And again, if we go across to 6
and 7, you've got two aerial shots. I'm sorry, can we just go back to page 6. Where
you've got 21 - excuse me - January 2018 image, then 25 October 2021 image, is the
first image from January 2018?

MR BENNETT: That would be, going by the note I put there.

MS McDONALD: Yes. And then if we go through to page 7, that's the image of the
same site in October 20217

MR BENNETT: That's right.

MS McDONALD: And if we go to the bottom - towards the bottom of page 7, you
recall:

"I recall a meeting I had with Adele Bechara when she was dealing with 370..."

And so you set out a conversation there that the operator came in, wanted more time,
advised he was purchasing another property and was moving there:

"I advised to make sure it was zoned appropriately and it had approval. He
acknowledged [and] understood ... didn't say ... the property was 615 ... and he had
already commenced unauthorised use and works there."

MR BENNETT: Correct. Yes.

MS McDONALD: Then if we - you send that information. If we go back to page 2
of the document, right down the bottom Steven Tuntevski responds - and if we go to
the top of 3:

"[Thanks] for providing this information ... [I'll] speak to you tomorrow."

COMMISSIONER: Sorry, where - there we go. Thank you.

MS McDONALD: Got that. Then if we go back to 2, another reference to 370 has
been - of a number of sites that Councillor Hagarty keeps chasing up. And then if we

LCC Inquiry —20.11.2025 P-3497 Transcript by Law In Order



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

go across to page 1, I think from Sheela, there's an issue about the actual creation of
the briefing notes.

MR BENNETT: Yes. That's right. She's just asking for someone else to put the
information into the briefing note.

MS McDONALD: And then if we bring up document LCC.004.003.0047.
COMMISSIONER: In that email there was a reference to Councillor Hagarty.
MR BENNETT: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: Do you know what that was a reference to?

MR BENNETT: So there were a number of properties around the outer area, I
suppose - Austral, Kemps Creek - that Councillor Hagarty had had constituents raise
concerns about, and that was one that he was chasing us to action. So [ was just
raising -

COMMISSIONER: When you say -

MR BENNETT: - that to the acting manager, just so he's aware this is also a
property that the councillor had been chasing up separately.

COMMISSIONER: When you say chasing to action, what do you mean?

MR BENNETT: Just to pursue it, | mean. So I've had something raised by a
constituent, "Where's this up to?" Is the council going to proceed with it, basically.

MS McDONALD: Yes. Now, this document - again, you can see Subject, "615".
And then Issue:

"This states what has happened, is happening, will happen or might happen that
requires Mayor or CEQO's attention."

Do you see that?
MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And if we can just very quickly go through the document. Could
we just jump to page 2. And you can see in this document has reproduced those
images in respect of 615. I'll just jump over page - sorry. Can you bring up page 3,
but just the very top of the document? Sorry? Up until it's got - if we can do it.

If - right at the bottom of the screen we've got 1 August 2019. Yes. Can you see there
in this document it then turns to 370 Fifteenth Avenue.

MR BENNETT: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: And I'm not going to take you through everything on that page,
but it sets out or duplicates a lot of what was in your email?

MR BENNETT: Yes. So it's - the aim of the email was to use that information - into
the briefing note. Sometimes it is just background. They may not want to include
that, so -

MS McDONALD: And then if we jump to page 4, we've got:

"Recommendation: This tells the mayor/CEO precisely what you would like him or
her to do about bringing about a desired outcome..."

Et cetera. And then you've "David Smith", with a date. I take it this is a proforma
briefing note?

MR BENNETT: Yes, it would be a standard sort of form we would have had at that
time.

MS McDONALD: All right. And when there was the - all right. So that's been
drafted. If we then move through to document LCC.004.004.7088.

COMMISSIONER: Is that the final document?

MS McDONALD: No.

COMMISSIONER: It's a draft.

MS McDONALD: There's the - no, it's not the final.

COMMISSIONER: I'm getting ahead?

MS McDONALD: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: I'll stop.

MS McDONALD: And if we go down to the bottom of that page, this is an email
exchange between Steven Tuntevski and David Dale - Day, I'm sorry. Mr Tuntevski
says:

"As per our discussion, please review and modify wording below."

The subject is "615", and then there is suggested wording. And then if we go back to
the top of that first page, Mr Day responds with "my suggested wording":

"I've been very specific about only holding in abeyance enforcement action in
relation to non-compliance with the orders, as we may [still] take enforcement action
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in relation to the original breaches being the building works during [the] time. We
don't want either the Mayor or Mr Hafza to be of the opinion that all possible
enforcement action will be held in abeyance."

Now, [ know you weren't party to this, but reading that, does that appear to be that
draft briefing note has been provided to Mr Day with a discussion about potential
wording in it?

MR BENNETT: I - I can only assume that David Day would have seen the briefing
note, but the wording appears to be either a response to director or CEO as to maybe
a letter that might go out to Mr Hafza, but I'm not a hundred per cent sure on that.

MS McDONALD: And then if we bring up -

COMMISSIONER: Just before you do, do you see, in the first paragraph of the
suggested wording in italics - do you see "It is understood that"? Do you see that?

MR BENNETT: Yes, I did.
COMMISSIONER: It was there. Do you remember what it said?
MR BENNETT: Not quite.

COMMISSIONER: Something about engaging a consultant to legitimise the use of
the -

MR BENNETT: Lodge an application, yes.
COMMISSIONER: Yes. Is that something that happens, from time to time?

MR BENNETT: Normally it does. Normally people - I suppose generalising, not
just talking about this matter, but -

COMMISSIONER: Yes.

MR BENNETT: Sometimes I'll have a planning consultant already lined up and
they'll already have a plan in place for us, I guess. Others may use that - a way to
stall - I - I'll engage someone and I'm going to get someone to do this, so - but it's not
uncommon.

COMMISSIONER: What I had in mind - and I wasn't very clear, so I apologise - is
if one of your team goes out and says, "Well, that's not authorised," is there then a
process where the person or the organisation the subject of that action or proposed
action can lodge an application to regularise what has happened at the site?
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MR BENNETT: Yes, it is an option for them. They're always able to seek approval
for what's there and the ongoing use. So just because it's occurred without approval,
council can't necessarily -

COMMISSIONER: It's not a matter of -
MR BENNETT: Not entertain an application for it.

COMMISSIONER: Yes. And when that happens, what effect does that have on
enforcement action? Or does it depend on the -

MR BENNETT: It does depend. So for example, if someone had illegal structures
we might not make them demolish the structures, but if there was a use occurring, we
may say to cease the use in the interim or - once again, depending on the matter.

COMMISSIONER: Thank you.

MS McDONALD: Now, if we can bring up, please, LCC.004.003.0047. And

if - sorry, I gave you the wrong number. LCC.004.004.2230. And you can see that's
Liverpool City Council, with subject "615". And if we go down the page there, you
can see there's some background.

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: There's the reference to 370, conversation with Mr Nabil Hafza,
again setting out various notices and orders. And then if we go to the next page we've
got the images from 615 that we saw in your original email.

MR BENNETT: Yes. That's right.

MS McDONALD: Then if we go to the next page, page 3, you can see:

"It is understood Mr Hafza has engaged a Planning Consultant to submit a DA
seeking approval to legitimise the use and structures at the above mentioned
property."

That's 615?

MR BENNETT: That is 615.

MS McDONALD: And then it's got:

"Compliance with Council's Notice of Entry will be required ... [and then] council
would be prepared to hold in abeyance enforcement action in relation to any

non-compliance with the Orders until ... 4 March ... to allow the application to be
submitted."
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MR BENNETT: Yes. That's right.

MS McDONALD: And then under - there's a reference to some additional
considerations. And I think that's back to 370.

MR BENNETT: Yes, that's - yes.

MS McDONALD: And then across the page, under Recommendation we've just
got:

"That the Mayor note the information provided."

It's under the signature block of David Smith, dated 19 January 2022.

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Is it your understanding that this was the final briefing
notice - note, I'm sorry, prepared for the mayor in the respect of the upcoming

meeting?

MR BENNETT: As officers we don't always see those final notes, but it would
appear to be.

MS McDONALD: All right. Now, I want to ask you some questions about the
meeting with the mayor. That occurred on 20 January?

MR BENNETT: Yes, I think so.

MS McDONALD: I'll put it broadly to begin with. You attended?
MR BENNETT: I did attend that meeting. Yes.

MS McDONALD: All right. And when you say you attended, how did you attend?

MR BENNETT: It was virtual.

MS McDONALD: If I can first ask you about people attending the meeting, whether

virtually or otherwise. The mayor was there?

MR BENNETT: Yes, the mayor was present.

MS McDONALD: Who else?

MR BENNETT: I believe Nabil Hafza was there. He had a planning consultant. I

can't recall his name. I recollect there was another person, but - I couldn't tell you
who that was, but some representative for Nabil Hafza.
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MS McDONALD: All right. So another person who was somehow associated with
the - either the owner or the operator of 6157

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Okay. From the council, you said you were - you attended
virtually?

MR BENNETT: Yes. That's right.

MS McDONALD: Anybody else?

MR BENNETT: Steven Tuntevski.

MS McDONALD: Who you said was an acting manager at that time?
MR BENNETT: That's right. At the time he was acting manager.

MS McDONALD: Anybody else?

MR BENNETT: No, that was it.

MS McDONALD: The mayor - was the mayor in his office?

MR BENNETT: I - well, it's a long time ago to recall, but visually I - I would
picture it as being his office, yes.

MS McDONALD: The three representatives from 615 Fifteenth Avenue, were they
present in the mayor's office?

MR BENNETT: They were, yes.
MS McDONALD: And Steven Tuntevski, was he present or virtual?
MR BENNETT: No, Steven and I were separate to that office and virtual.

MS McDONALD: Was there anybody else there from the council? For example, the
mayor's executive assistant?

MR BENNETT: Not that I'm aware of, no.

MS McDONALD: So your recollection is only six - sorry, not "only", but six people
were at this meeting?

MR BENNETT: That's right.

MS McDONALD: Now, what do you recall being discussed or said at the meeting?
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MR BENNETT: The mayor did a fair bit of the talking, I guess, especially at the
start of the meeting, just summarising about the company Future Form - well, you
know, local employer, number of people they employ, and then talking about the
action that council is currently taking. I don't know if - I can't recall if the mayor
spoke about it, but certainly there was discussion from the owner's representatives
about lodging a development application, and if there was any provision where
council could hold off action for that to occur.

MS McDONALD: And the DA was for 615?
MR BENNETT: 615, yes.

MS McDONALD: And I think, as might have been anticipated in that briefing
note - that it was anticipated that enforcement action may be - I think it was
described as put in abeyance or placed in abeyance - if they said that they would
submit a DA by a certain time?

MR BENNETT: So in our meeting, a discussion from Steven with my input, I
guess, was that we wouldn't hold action in abeyance until an application was lodged.
If an application was lodged, then we would then consider holding that action.

MS McDONALD: Okay. So the prospect or potential of a DA was raised?
MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And your recollection is - your position and Steven's position
was nothing would be put in abeyance until a DA was lodged?

MR BENNETT: That's correct.

MS McDONALD: Was there a discussion about whether there would be a time limit
or a time when by the DA would be lodged?

MR BENNETT: I don't recall us providing a timeframe. They may have estimated
how long it might take them to put the information together. I don't recall that, but
we didn't give any timeframe because it was really up to them to lodge an
application. From our side, action would continue if that did not occur.

MS McDONALD: Can you remember what else was discussed at the meeting?
MR BENNETT: It was pretty much along those lines. The mayor seemed
to - Mayor Mannoun wanted to, I suppose, tell us about the company itself, I

suppose - had that, sort of, side to it so we could consider that in our decision.

MS McDONALD: And what type of things did he say about the company? I think
you've already mentioned number of employees.
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MR BENNETT: Yes. He basically said that it's a local company, they've been
around for a long time. They're a - you know, employer of - I can't remember - he
might have said 200 or - how many stuff they employ. So basically along the lines of
if we can do anything to assist, and just in general terms like that.

MS McDONALD: Was there an indication of what the company actually did?

MR BENNETT: I don't - I don't know if the mayor mentioned that. We were
fairly - much aware already from the investigation of what they did. But it may have
been discussed, I just don't recall that in detail.

MS McDONALD: And what did the company do?

MR BENNETT: They're basically a building form works, scaffolding-type
company. I remember with conversations with Mr Hafza I had previously talked
about some major developments that they were involved with around Sydney and
elsewhere.

MS McDONALD: All right. Now, scaffolding I understand. Formwork, that's part
of the process of laying concrete, is it?

MR BENNETT: Yes, for concrete particularly. But, yes, certainly construction
sites - to secure or hold things in place while they're building - you know, could be
low level or higher level things.

MS McDONALD: Now, how long did the meeting go for?

MR BENNETT: I don't recall it being particularly long. Maybe half an hour.

MS McDONALD: Was any agreement reached or a position reached?

MR BENNETT: Well, certainly their undertaking that they would be lodging an
application, and - and our agreement was that if an application was lodged we would
look at holding action at that time. That was really the only agreement we made.
MS McDONALD: So the way that you've described it there is that the 615 people
said, "We will lodge a DA," and from enforcement and compliance perspective it
was, "We will look at holding action" - enforcement action, I take it, if a DA is
lodged?

MR BENNETT: That's right. Yes.

MS McDONALD: Was there any discussion about when the DA would be lodged?

MR BENNETT: As I said, they may have given an indication, I just don't recall
that.
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MS McDONALD: At the end of the meeting, was there any discussion along the
lines of - and I'll ask first about when everybody was there, "This should be
recorded," or, "The position that we've kind of now got to should be recorded in
some way?"

MR BENNETT: There was no discussion of that. No.

MS McDONALD: From your perspective and Steven's perspective, did you put it in
any kind of file note or make any kind of record of it?

MR BENNETT: I didn't make any record of it. As I said, I was, I suppose, invited
along. I was supposed to provide technical assistance, but also maybe as a witness as
well. I know Steven was acting in the role, so we had some concerns to - to make
sure everything was aboveboard. So I didn't make any notes on that because it - |
suppose it wasn't my meeting, but yes, certainly - whether it's a manager or a director
or someone else, there could be opportunities to make notes, I guess.

MS McDONALD: And did the mayor make any reference to - that he would record
what went on or what was agreed or the final position of the parties?

MR BENNETT: No, there was no mention of that. There may have been - and I
don't recall us - more than likely in those types of meetings there's some mention that
there'll be follow-up email and we can confirm things, but I don't recall that
happening, but it's not uncommon in those types of meetings. But nothing mentioned
by the mayor.

MS McDONALD: All right. Could you just excuse me for a minute. I'm moving to
another point in the chronology. I note the time.

COMMISSIONER: Yes. All right. Mr Bennett, we're just going to take our
mid-morning break for about 20 minutes.

MR BENNETT: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: Feel free to stretch your legs, get some fresh air, have a cup of
coffee. I'll resume at noon. So if you wouldn't mind being back here just before then
I'd be most grateful.

MR BENNETT: Okay.

COMMISSIONER: I'll adjourn till 12 o'clock.

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED AT 11.41 AM

<THE HEARING RESUMED AT 12.09 PM
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MS McDONALD: Mr Bennett, before the break you were giving an account of the
meeting with the mayor, the representatives of 615 Fifteenth Avenue and yourself
and Mr Tuntevski. The meeting which occurred on 20 January.

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Now, just some general questions about the meeting. As we've
seen in the correspondence - not correspondence, the email exchange - it appears to
have occurred because of contact or representations by - I'll call them the
constituents from 615, to the mayor?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then a - the mayor requiring or wanting to arrange a meeting
at short notice?

MR BENNETT: That's right. Yes.

MS McDONALD: Could I just ask - do you think you could speak into -
MR BENNETT: Okay. I'll try and get a bit closer. How's that?

MS McDONALD: That's great.

MR BENNETT: Okay.

MS McDONALD: Thank you very much. I want to first focus on when this meeting
occurred, which was around January 2022. At Liverpool City Council, that
requirement for a meeting with the mayor and the constituents with relevant
employees within operations, was that unusual?

MR BENNETT: I wouldn't say it's usual. There's meetings that seem to occur where
constituents go to elected representatives or even the CEO directly. So I wouldn't say
it's uncommon, no.

MS McDONALD: I can - sorry, you just then referred to constituents going to the
CEO.

MR BENNETT: I should say members of the public. Sorry.

MS McDONALD: No, no, no, no. Sorry. No, I've got no difficulty with
"constituents" or "members of the public". The point that you just made there, you
referred them approaching the CEO. My question was to focus on the fact that you've
got a member of the governing body, a member of the public, and then the member
of the governing body then involving and bringing into the meeting members of
operations?
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MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Where there is usually seen to be a demarcation between the
governing body and operations?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: So in that context, the mayor arranging the meeting and being
present in January 2022, was that unusual?

MR BENNETT: No, it's not - not unusual. And not just at Liverpool, I've had that at
other councils as well. But there's a process and council has a policy about meetings
with elected representatives.

MS McDONALD: There's a current policy, which -
MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: - [ think we've heard some evidence has been recently renewed.
That's why I was asking you questions about your experience as at January 2022.

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And if we just concentrate on that time period, your evidence is
that wasn't that unusual?

MR BENNETT: I wouldn't say it's common, but it's not unusual.
MS McDONALD: I'm sorry?

MR BENNETT: It's not uncommon, but it's not unusual either. So as I said, there's
meetings that can occur a lot. Whether operational staff be brought into those is
probably less common. Normally it could be held with the CEO or a director
particularly, maybe a manager, but I have had meetings previously with managers
and elected representatives on site. So I wouldn't say it's uncommon, it's just not
common to have us in those meetings.

MS McDONALD: And when you say it's not common to have "us" in those
meetings, you were speaking about operational staft -

MR BENNETT: Yes. Technical officers, operational staff.

COMMISSIONER: As opposed to managers and directors? Is that the distinction
you're drawing?

MR BENNETT: That's right. Yes. Managers and directors are probably more often
in those meetings.
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MS McDONALD: My questions were focused on January 2022. Your experience
over the last three-odd years, has that changed at all, this meeting which a member of
the governing body organises with a member of the public, constituent, and
somebody from operations?

MR BENNETT: I'd say it probably has changed in the last few years,
where - there's probably more meetings occurring without those technical officers
involved. Particularly managers or directors would be in those meetings only.

MS McDONALD: Right.
MR BENNETT: In my experience, anyway.

MS McDONALD: So the next level down operational staff - for example, your role
as either a team leader or a coordinator, you're not being involved in those types of
meetings?

MR BENNETT: No.

COMMISSIONER: Sorry, just so I'm clear - I might have misunderstood. I just
want to be clear that I'm following. Is it the case that in around that 2022 period
people - you and others at your level in the organisation might be attending those
meetings, but in more recent times that has, sort of, fallen away?

MR BENNETT: That's certainly the experience I've had. Yes.

MS McDONALD: Just excuse me for a moment. I'll just take you to a couple of
documents in the relatively immediate aftermath of that meeting. The first one is
LCC.004.003.0704. And can we go through to page 13, please. This was - |
described it as the investigation log.

MR BENNETT: Mmm.

MS McDONALD: On this day, you can see entries by David Day on two days
towards the end of January. The first one, the entry appears to have been made on the
25th but is dealing with events on the 24th. And you've got:

"Inspected premises under NOE."

What -

MR BENNETT: A notice of entry. So it's a formal letter we send to access.

MS McDONALD: That was part of the - one of the investigative tools that you have
in your hands?
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MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And it then records:

"...further unauthorised works carried out to opencovered pergola at rear..."
Et cetera. And then on the 28th, is that a notice to provide information?
MR BENNETT: That's correct. Yes.

MS McDONALD: Drafted - so it's, again, one of those investigative tools that you
can use?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: That leads then to - it would appear to lead to an exchange of
emails. Would you please bring up LCC.004.003.0087. It can be live streamed. And
if we can go to page 2 to begin with. Now, can you see there it's an email from

Gilbert at HDC Planning? And if you look at the signature block, it's a Gilbert de
Chalain, partner HDC Planning.

MR BENNETT: Mmm.
MS McDONALD: You recognise him as part of the advisory or support group?

MR BENNETT: Yes, the name Gilbert rings a bell now of being that planning
consultant I referred to earlier.

MS McDONALD: Yes. And you can see this is addressed to Mr Day, copying in
Nabil Hafza from Future Form, and the subject is the notice to provide records?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And just very quickly, looking at this:

"I am unsure if you are aware of the meeting..."

And that's the meeting on the 20th?

MR BENNETT: Yes, it is. Yes.

MS McDONALD:

"Coming out of the meeting it was agreed that further enforcement action would be
suspended until a development application [has] been submitted. Our date for

submission is 4 March. Furthermore, we were advised to await the determination of
the development application and once consent had been secured, a building
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information certificate application should be submitted to formalise any unauthorised
structures. The matter that you are seeking to investigate by way of your notice will
be dealt as part of the DA and the BIC."

MR BENNETT: Yes, I can see that.

MS McDONALD: Now, if we go back to page 1 of that document, right down the
bottom Mr Day emails you, "Can we respond" - "Can we have a discussion"?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then if we go to the top of that page, that's your email?
MR BENNETT: Yes, it is.

MS McDONALD: To - and, I'm sorry, you respond to Nada Mardini. Her position?
MR BENNETT: So Nada Mardini was the manager of Community Standards. So
when Steven, for example, was acting or I was acting, we were acting generally for

Nada.

MS McDONALD: So she was the person who was on leave when Steven was
acting -

MR BENNETT: That's right.
MS McDONALD: - and why he attended the meeting?
MR BENNETT: That's right. Yes.

MS McDONALD: And your response is it relates to 615, had a meeting, and there
you say:

"It was agreed enforcement action would be put on hold, but not our investigation.
David has since issued a notice to provide [information] under my cosign, so
investigating [but] not enforcing (currently)."

MR BENNETT: That's right. Yes.

MS McDONALD: Before lunch, when I asked you about the meeting and what was
the position that was reached - I think my note was something along the lines of "we
would" - they undertook to submit or lodge a DA, and "we would look at holding
action until that was submitted".

MR BENNETT: What I said before was that we'd hold action if it was submitted.

MS McDONALD: All right. Is your account there a little bit different?
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MR BENNETT: I'm trying to think myself of why I would have written it that way.
There were two matters there, one for the use and one for the structures. So

maybe - I'm not sure if I've miscommunicated it there, but the agreement was that we
would hold off action if an application was lodged.

MS McDONALD: And hold off action is -

MR BENNETT: Enforcement action.

MS McDONALD: I think the point you were also making here is it's enforcement.
So for example, issuing a CAN or a PIN?

MR BENNETT: That's right.

MS McDONALD: Not holding or stopping investigation.

MR BENNETT: That's right. There's still the base - in effect, I suppose, someone's
done something wrong, they've carried out unauthorised works or an unauthorised
use - and even if they regularise that later on, it doesn't stop council from taking
action for that action that they've done.

MS McDONALD: Excuse me for a minute. And if we jump back to
LCC.004.003.0704, and if we'd jump back to page 13. And this is the investigation
log. Page 13. Now, if we go down towards the bottom - stop there. Again, as we've
seen, Mr Day's habit is to cut and paste the email?

MR BENNETT: Mmm.

MS McDONALD: And that's the cut and paste of that email that you were asked
about from Mr de Chalain. Do you see that? Keep on going down a little bit.

MR BENNETT: I can see that's between the consultant and David.
MS McDONALD: Sorry?

MR BENNETT: I can see it's between the consultant and David.

MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR BENNETT: But you made reference to something with me, sorry?
MS McDONALD: I showed you that email.

MR BENNETT: The other one? Yes, for Nada. Yes.

LCC Inquiry —20.11.2025 P-3512 Transcript by Law In Order



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

MS McDONALD: Because Mr Day then, I think, sends it on to you and then you
responded.

MR BENNETT: Mmm.

MS McDONALD: If we then go across to page 14 - again, following the way Mr
Day organises this file, we can see a cut and paste of his answer.

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Where he says:

"It is my understanding that the outcome of the meeting was that Council would hold
in abeyance enforcement action in relation to any non-compliance with the Demolish
Works Orders until close of business ... 4 March ... to allow applications to be

submitted."

He then refers to the NPI and says this is - relates to the ongoing investigation into
unauthorised construction works, and:

"...your client is required to respond..."

MR BENNETT: Yes. That's right.

MS McDONALD: Then if we could bring up, please, document LCC.004.004.2445.
Yes, please. Sorry. Now, this an email from Yasmin Hafza and it's addressed to the
mayor, but a number of other people, including Nabil Hafza from Future Form,

Mr - sorry - Mr Chalain, and also, it would appear, some other lawyers, and it's
addressed to:

"Dear Mayor and Senior Members of Council, I write to you [about] the meeting..."
And then:

"We have since received a Court Attendance Notice for failing to comply with a
development control order at 370 Fifteenth Avenue ... Complying with this order
would require to us remove all stored materials."

And then there's a reference to:

"The plan is to store the materials ... at 615 ... once the development application is
processed and the Council has approved for us to do [that]."

And then:

"We have always demonstrated willingness to comply..."
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Et cetera. And then:

"...we respectfully request that Council ceases legal proceedings and withdraws the
charge."

So that was on 21 Feb. Then - excuse me for a minute. There then is a series of
emails. And if you can bring up LCC.004.008.0056. And if we can go - it can be live
streamed. If we can start at page 3? There's an email from Mr Day on 3 March to
Leanne Bourne, but you're copied into it. Leanne Bourne's position?

MR BENNETT: So she's the assistant to the manager. So Nada.

MS McDONALD: And if we just very quickly look at it, there's a reference to the
meeting of 20 February:

"...wondering if are there any recorded minutes ... or possibly a letter that was sent by
Council to Mr Hafza ... [I've only got] the emails myself and Steven prior to the
meeting recommending what we should commit to. I believe that Mr Hafza may
have misinterpreted some of the Council's commitments ... would like to clarify..."

If we go across the page, right down the bottom, Leanne Bourne responds by
referencing a "Trim" reference to the briefing note.

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Then, if we go to the bottom of the first page, Mr Day - and
again, you're copied into this - says:

"Thanks, Leanne. I'll check with Steve about any correspondence after the meeting."

And if we go to the top of page 2, again he's then asking Mr Tuntevski about
confirmation about the particular commitment?

MR BENNETT: Yes.
MS McDONALD: And then if we go -

MR BENNETT: Sorry, just before you take that off, I just want to read this. Yes.
Thank you.

MS McDONALD: Then if we go across to the first page of that document. Now,
this is Mr Tuntevski responding, though you're copied into his response:

"...confirm ... the only commitment ... 'Should an application be submitted prior to
[date] then council will continue to hold in abeyance enforcement action for
non-compliance with the Orders whilst the application is assessed'. [And] Robert was
also at the meeting."
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MR BENNETT: Yes.
MS McDONALD: And Robert's -
MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Yes. You were copied into that. I don't think we've got any
response from you, so you didn't take any issue with -

MR BENNETT: No, I was probably just noting it.

MS McDONALD: Sorry?

MR BENNETT: I was probably just noting it.

MS McDONALD: Now, at the same time there's another lot of email - another
email exchange. Can we bring up LCC.004.008.0055. And if we can go through to
page 2, and it can be live streamed. If we go to the bottom of page 2 - I'll just pause
there. You can see this is that email I took you to previously from Yasmin Hafza to
the mayor and senior members of council?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Then if we go to the top of page 2, we've got Nada

Mardini - sorry, it's actually from Sheela Naidu - that's at the bottom of the - page 1.
Sheela Naidu, who's the - I think you've identified is the executive assistant to the
director Planning and Compliance?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Saying:

"Not sure to whom I should refer this ... Community Standards or legal? Let me
know..."

And then if we go across to page 5 - page 1, I'm sorry. We've got Nada Mardini,
who's the manager of Community Standards, to Alvin Morales. Who was Alvin?

MR BENNETT: Alvin was - I think he was our assistant general counsel.
MS McDONALD: So part of the legal team?
MR BENNETT: Yes, part of the legal team. Yes. At council.

MS McDONALD: All right. We've got:
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"Hi Alvin, the meeting with the Mayor took place in relation to 615 ... [and I] refer to
the email from Steven Tuntevski. He is requesting legal action to cease for 370
Fifteenth Avenue so this should be referred to your team."

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And if it's legal action to cease for 370, that would be referring
to - I took you to earlier in the morning the court attendance notice that had already
been issued and was before the court in respect of the first prosecution of 370?

MR BENNETT: Yes, one of the prosecutions at least. Yes. Yes.
COMMISSIONER: Was that discussed in the meeting on the -

MS McDONALD: 20th.

COMMISSIONER: - 20 January, the 370 -

MR BENNETT: No, we never discussed that in the meeting.

MS McDONALD: The meeting, did you only discuss 6157

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Excuse me for a minute. Then there's further correspondence
about this. If you bring up LCC.004.004.2366. It can be live streamed. If you'd go
through to page 3. Could you just excuse me for a minute. We won't live stream this,
but if we can go to page 3. Right down the bottom of that page, that email that you
just took you to about:

"Not sure to whom I should refer this to?"

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Then if we move up the page, Mr Morales sends an email to
Jennifer Chenhall and Brenda Burke. Are they both within your legal team?

MR BENNETT: They were, yes.
MS McDONALD:

"For your information, were we aware that there was a meeting between them and
the mayor?"

MR BENNETT: Yes, I can see that.

MS McDONALD: Then across the page, page 2, Ms Chenhall says:
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"I was most definitely not aware of the meeting. In my view this is an operational
and a legal matter, whether any compliance action is taken."

And then if we jump across to page 1 -
COMMISSIONER: Just pause for a moment.
MS McDONALD: I raised that with Mr Parish, if that's -

COMMISSIONER: All right. It's just if you're going to read from it - I don't know
whether that causes any problem, Mr Parish.

MR PARISH: It does.
COMMISSIONER: It does or doesn't?
MR PARISH: Well, it does.
COMMISSIONER: Yes.

MR PARISH: The email we are still seeking instructions on. It would defeat the
purpose if it was then read out loud.

COMMISSIONER: That's why I raised it.
MR PARISH: Thank you.
COMMISSIONER: We'll just tread carefully.
MS McDONALD: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: Perhaps direct the witness's attention to the paragraphs and ask
him to read them.

MS McDONALD: If you have a read of that email -
MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: - can you see there's a reference to the - a court of - attendance
notice?

MR BENNETT: Yes.
MS McDONALD: And when it was first before the court?

MR BENNETT: That's right. Yes.
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MS McDONALD: Do you recall earlier today I took you to some transcript of a
prosecution in the Local Court?

MR BENNETT: Yes.
MS McDONALD: That seems to correspond to that date?
MR BENNETT: That seems familiar, yes.

MS McDONALD: All right. Okay. You might not be able to comment upon this,
but the reference earlier, which doesn't appear to have been covered by privilege,
about, "Were we aware of a meeting", your account of the meeting is that it didn't
consider 370, it was only 615?

MR BENNETT: I don't recall anything mentioned about 370 in the meeting.

MS McDONALD: And if the prosecution that's being considered here, or the
enforcement action, deals with 370, it would be the case that legal probably wouldn't
have been told about the meeting?

MR BENNETT: That's more than likely, yes. It's not - if it's not currently a legal
matter with them, so -

MS McDONALD: Would you just excuse me for a minute.

COMMISSIONER: I don't want you to tell me anything about this document that's
on the screen or this particular process, I'm just asking this generally -

MR BENNETT: Okay.

MS McDONALD: - have you had any experience where there's been enforcement
action before the court - say, a CAN's been issued then representations might be
made to a member of the governing body or the CEO?

MR BENNETT: Yes, I have seen that happen.

COMMISSIONER: All right. And when that happens, is there a usual process that
is followed?

MR BENNETT: I'm trying to think what - I guess what you mean by "usual". The
process would normally be an inquiry process only, but quite often it relates to some
things being put on the backburner, we might say.

COMMISSIONER: Can you just explain that a little more to me?
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MR BENNETT: There's been a change in our process, particularly - probably after
one of these matters - where we would normally refer things to legal, they'd normally
now go to the director for approval before any prosecution would occur.

COMMISSIONER: Just - sorry, you - I just lost that last -

MR BENNETT: Yes. So before we'd send it to legal for prosecution, it would now
go to the director for consideration for any prosecution before it goes to legal.

COMMISSIONER: All right. But where there's a matter that's on foot, a
prosecution has been started and a representation is made to a member of the
governing body or the CEQ, is there a usual process - for example, does that
representation get referred to legal as a matter of course? If you're not aware of any
such circumstances feel free to tell me.

MR BENNETT: Once it's with legal it normally becomes a matter for legal to
decide on. So, yes, I normally wouldn't see those ones, but I have heard of it
happening.

COMMISSIONER: And what - it being referred to legal in that way, is that what
you mean?

MR BENNETT: That there was - trying to think. So I have heard through
this - from another party. So there was - in that instance there was a letter - a
character letter written by the CEO for a matter we took to Local Court.

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry, [ missed that last one - last comment. In that
circumstance, there was a -

MR BENNETT: A character letter from the CEO.

MS McDONALD: To the - your understanding, tendered in the sentence
proceedings or -

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: - something along those lines? Can I just follow up on that. The
demarcation within the council is there - as you've outlined, there's a complaint, it's
investigated. And depending on what stage you get to, if there's been
non-compliance, et cetera, it comes to a decision of do we do anything, do we issue a
penalty notice, or is a court attendance notice issued.

MR BENNETT: Mmm.

MS McDONALD: That's - just taking it in stages -

MR BENNETT: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: - that's correct?
MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: That decision of we do nothing, a PIN or a CAN, is that the
investigator's decision or is it legal or is it a combination?

MR BENNETT: So the investigator makes that decision, but if it is going to go to a
CAN, as I just mentioned to the Commissioner, that now goes through the director
before legal will consider it, and then legal then review it, make sure - if they're
happy, to then issue the CAN.

MS McDONALD: All right. That position that you've just described, that it goes to
the director, is - has that always been in place, or has that been a recent introduction?

MR BENNETT: It was in place until probably 370 Fifteenth.

MS McDONALD: And in a sense, the investigative brief then goes to legal, and
then legal have to review it and, I take it, pursuant to some kind of prosecution
policy, make sure there's reasonable prospects to convict and then commence the
proceedings?

MR BENNETT: Yes. That's right.

MS McDONALD: And just following on from the Commissioner's questions, often
where prosecutions have been commenced a defendant will submit what's usually
described as a no bill, and it's basically a submission along the lines of, "Look,
you've misunderstood the evidence," or, "There are matters of mitigation that we say
you should take into account and you should withdraw the prosecution."

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: In those circumstances, is it your understanding that those
submissions would go to legal?

MR BENNETT: Yes, they would.
MS McDONALD: And is it then legal's determination?

MR BENNETT: That's right. Normally legal would discuss that with the relevant
team.

MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR BENNETT: But normally it is their decision.
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MS McDONALD: Okay. So they would discuss it with the investigative team, but
ultimately that decision of pulling the prosecution is the determination of legal?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Hold on. The procedure that you just referred to - that the
investigative officer conducts the investigation and then the brief of evidence or the
brief then goes to the director and then from the director it goes to legal?

MR BENNETT: Not quite. So the officer would still prepare everything.
MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR BENNETT: It may still go to legal, but the director makes a call whether it
goes further, or legal make that decision.

MS McDONALD: Before it goes to legal?

MR BENNETT: It's normally still referred to legal, but it doesn't go anywhere until
the director gives it the go-ahead.

MS McDONALD: All right. And is that in a policy or is it just the practice that's
now been adopted?

MR BENNETT: That's an internal direction, yes. Not a formal policy, to my
knowledge.

MS McDONALD: An internal direction?
MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Okay. Can we bring up another document, please.
LCC.004.004.4306. It can be live streamed. And if we can go to page 2. Are you
having difficulty? Okay.

COMMISSIONER: While that's happening, Mr Bennett - I'm sort of - it might just
be me - I just want to make sure I've got the timeline right in my head. So at the 20
January meeting, in relation to 615 -

MR BENNETT: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: - there had been certain notices issued but no CAN or other
enforcement action taken?

MR BENNETT: At the time of that meeting I think it was either the notice or the
order was only current. It hadn't gone to a CAN.
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COMMISSIONER: Yes. So it's that preliminary steps had been taken but there was
nothing before a court?

MR BENNETT: That's right.

COMMISSIONER: But at that time there was court proceedings via a CAN in
relation to - is it 3707

MR BENNETT: Yes.
COMMISSIONER: And that was on foot as at 20 January?

MR BENNETT: Certainly with our legal team - I'm not a hundred per cent sure if a
CAN had been issued at that time. It was headed that way, if not.

COMMISSIONER: All right. Thank you.

MS McDONALD: Right. If we can go to page 2. Right down the bottom. Can you
see from Mr De Chalain an email to David Day and some others, confirm that a DA's
been submitted?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then if we go to the bottom of the first page, Mr De Chalain
emailing the mayor and some other people associated with Future Form re 615, and

it says:

"...1t was agreed that enforcement/compliance action would be suspended allowing
for the lodgement of a [DA]."

And across the page, the DA's been submitted via the New South Wales Planning
Portal.

MR BENNETT: I can see that, yes.

MS McDONALD: And then, just to finish this off, at the top of the first page, Ms
Myers, the executive assistant to the mayor, just acknowledges receipt?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: All right. Excuse me for a minute. If I can just bring up another
email, LCC.004.003.0059. Don't live stream it yet. Excuse me for a minute. [ might
just jump over this. I might just - sorry, Mr Bennett.

COMMISSIONER: Mr Ramrakha, can I just trouble you to close the door?

MR RAMRAKHA: Sure.
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COMMISSIONER: (Crosstalk) that offensive noise coming from the corridor.
Thank you. Thank you.

MS McDONALD: I understand from my learned friend there are a couple of
documents where they're getting further instructions. What I'll do is I'll just jump
over this.

COMMISSIONER: All right.

MS McDONALD: Excuse me. Now, the - sorry, I'm just trying to work out how I
can shortcut this.

COMMISSIONER: All right.

MS McDONALD: I think I can do it in abbreviated form. If you can bring up
LCC.004.003.0743. Yes. And I'll just take you to - you can see there it's a delegated
assessment report?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Proposed development regularisation of the use of land, et
cetera, property address 615.

MR BENNETT: Yes, I can see that.

MS McDONALD: And if we move down the table on the first page, you can see
recommendation is refusal?

MR BENNETT: That's correct. Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then if we jump to page 29 of this document, you can see
that:

"The application is determined on 21 February..."
MR BENNETT: I can see it, yes.
MS McDONALD: Excuse me for a minute.

COMMISSIONER: Wasn't the - is this different from the application that was
lodged on 4 March?

MS McDONALD: No, that's just what I'm having a look at. I think that date -

COMMISSIONER: Were you involved in this -
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MS McDONALD: I've referred to the wrong date, I think. Sorry.
COMMISSIONER: Were you involved in this process?

MR BENNETT: No, I wasn't. That would be - excuse me - our development
assessment team would do that for the development application.

MS McDONALD: I have referred to the wrong date. I apologise. If we'd go back to
the first page. You can see down the bottom of the first page it's talking about the
notification:

"The development application was notified for a period..."

Which refers to June and July. So obviously it wasn't determined on February.

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Did you have further involvement in this issue after that
exchange of emails we saw a moment ago about what occurred on 20 January?

MR BENNETT: I would have had some involvement in a possibly supervisory
fashion for a little while after that, but at this stage no.

MS McDONALD: If you can just excuse me for a minute.

COMMISSIONER: Well, I might take a slightly earlier lunch break, and then you
can -

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry.

COMMISSIONER: You can work out what more documents you need to put to the
witness and -

MS McDONALD: There's the - there are a couple of other email exchanges that
involve Mr Bennett.

COMMISSIONER: Yes.

MS McDONALD: So we'll clearly identify those.

COMMISSIONER: Yes.

MS McDONALD: If subsequently there are other email exchanges which don't
rely - or Mr Bennett hasn't been involved in, then I think it's a matter of we may
tender them -

COMMISSIONER: Yes.

MS McDONALD: - and they'll just speak for themselves.
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COMMISSIONER: Yes, the documents can be tendered without having to go
through a witness. There's no difficulty with that. So I'll just take a slightly - we're
only a few minutes short of 1 - slightly earlier lunch break, and you might be able to
identify those few more documents for Mr Bennett. So, Mr Bennett, I'm going to
take a lunch break. I'll resume at 2 pm. Feel free to step down, have a bite to eat and
I'll see you back here at 2.

MR BENNETT: Okay.

COMMISSIONER: Just before I do, just on the topic of documents - I don't know,
it may be that some of the authorised parties would wish to seek to tender documents
through counsel assisting. What I would ask is that - as [ understand it, some
documents might have been provided for counsel assisting's consideration, but if
there are documents that any of the authorised parties press for tender, as opposed to
provision for consideration - if those documents could be identified to counsel
assisting by the end of next Tuesday, whatever date that is - by way of a list, if
they've already been provided with document IDs. Or if they haven't already been
provided, by providing them to counsel assisting with an indication that the party
would wish for those documents to be tendered. Then all of that can be completed by
the end of next week. And if that can be communicated to any authorised party who
isn't here today I'd be most grateful. 2 o'clock. Thank you.

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED AT 12.59 PM

<THE HEARING RESUMED AT 2.15 PM

MS McDONALD: Mr Bennett, immediately before the luncheon break I took you to
a document, which was a delegated assessment report for the DA lodged for 615
Fifteenth Avenue.

MR BENNETT: Yes. That's right.

MS McDONALD: Could you bring up, please, LCC.004.003.0743. I took you to the
first page, which refers to the details of the DA and has - the recommendation is
refusal. If we can move down that page a little bit. Right?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then if we jump to back to page 29, it has the application is
determined on 21 February 2022.

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Which - it sounds a little bit confusing when the DA was only
lodged in March 2022.

LCC Inquiry —20.11.2025 P-3525 Transcript by Law In Order



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

MR BENNETT: That would be pretty good stats.
MS McDONALD: Sorry?

MR BENNETT: That'd be pretty good statistics for council. It means that we
processed it very quickly.

COMMISSIONER: Even that being so -
MS McDONALD: In such -

COMMISSIONER: - Mr Bennett, it might not be able to be processed before it's
lodged.

MR BENNETT: You can't complain about the service.

MS McDONALD: That's really impressive, Mr Bennett. I'll just bring up another
document. Maybe there's another explanation. LCC.004.003.0214. Yes. I understand
this should be some kind of spreadsheet. And can you click on Applications? Maybe
if you move down. Keep on going. It's that page. The first line there under
Application is the DA that was lodged in March 2022.

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And if we move along that document - no, no, no. It goes there,
does it? Sorry. I'm hoping a date appears there. Can you open - having a look at that,
you can see, with that DA, date lodged 7 March 2022, decision date 21 Feb but 2023.

MR BENNETT: Sounds better, yes.

MS McDONALD: Okay. So although I would love to accept your evidence of the
incredible efficiency, the date on the DA is just some typo with the year?

MR BENNETT: Yes. Well, that was on the assessment report, so it's probably just a
typo from the officer.

MS McDONALD: Now, I just want to take you to a couple of other documents
where you've been - had further involvement. And if I can kind of describe it - and
again - you've had the issues with 370 Fifteenth Avenue, which is - you've given
evidence resulted in two prosecutions. Then you've had 615, where there's been an
investigation ongoing by Mr Day, concurrently with the owners trying to get a DA
up at - sorry, development application lodged and accepted?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And I'm not going to go into this in great detail, but was there
then an associated property, 41 Wynyard Avenue, Rossmore?
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MR BENNETT: There is another property that we were dealing with - similar
issues on, and I was later advised that there seems to be at least a link (indistinct) on
that property.

MS McDONALD: And do you recall that other property - was it 41
Wynyard Avenue, Rossmore?

MR BENNETT: Yes, it was.

MS McDONALD: All right. I'm not going to go into that in detail because it just
becomes a little bit complicated, but your involvement primarily still was 615 and
370. Just to provide some background - excuse me just for a minute. I might not have
to take you to this, but is it your understanding that while the issue of the
development application was ongoing, Mr David Day was still conducting his
investigation?

MR BENNETT: Through conversation with David, yes, | was aware that was
occurring. Yes.

MS McDONALD: And when I say that investigation, dealing with 615?
MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Now - and if we can bring up LCC.004.003.0184. Yes. Can you
see that this is a final warning for non-compliance with council's stop use order and
demolish works order, dealing with 615 Fifteenth Avenue?

MR BENNETT: Yes. That's right.

MS McDONALD: And if we go through to page 3, there's a copy of the stop use
order and demolish works order. And if we go through to page 5, you - Mr Day was
a signatory and you were a signatory?

MR BENNETT: Yes, I've co-signed it. Yes.
MS McDONALD: Excuse me. Now -

MR BENNETT: Actually, I might clarify that. I think that signature on the bottom
is for the order, is it?

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry, I missed that.

MR BENNETT: I think - I think at the bottom that's the signature for the order, not
the warning, though. Is that what you're - I think that signature relates to the

order - as to the copy of the order, because the letter at the top is the final warning
relating to that order.
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COMMISSIONER: I see.
MS McDONALD: So that's -

COMMISSIONER: Just scroll up through pages 4 and 3, please, Operator. Scroll
up, please. Keep going, keep going, keep going. Yes. That's the -

MS McDONALD: So that's the actual -
COMMISSIONER: That's the -

MR BENNETT: That's the order, but - yes, a copy - in this letter it's the warning
letter, but it's a copy of an order that was issued previously.

COMMISSIONER: Just keep scrolling up. And again. So the final warning is
signed by Mr Day, which attaches a copy of the order to which you're a co-signatory.
Is that the point?

MS McDONALD: Is that the position?

MR BENNETT: If you move - if you move down just a bit to where David's
signature is there, you'll see he's now the coordinator.

MS McDONALD: Yes.
MR BENNETT: But when the order was issued I was the coordinator, and
that's - there's a changeover where - I haven't actually co-signed that warning letter

now, it's only the order originally.

MS McDONALD: So your point is the actual - when the order was issued you were
occupying the coordinator position?

MR BENNETT: Yes.
MS McDONALD: Now that the letter saying this is the final -
MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: - warning, Mr Day is now the coordinator of building and
development compliance and hence that's why he's signed that letter?

MR BENNETT: That's correct.

MS McDONALD: Okay. Now, just again to put into context, when you become
involved in the matter again, can I just bring up LCC.004.004.4819. Yes. If we go to
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the email down the bottom, that's an email from Mr De Chalain, who's associated
with 615?

MR BENNETT: Yes.
MS McDONALD: And just looking at that, it's to David Day:

"I refer to [the] final warning issued ... after you being informed that our DA ... had
been refused."

Then:

"Attached to this email is our correspondence ... and [we're] seeking your patience
and allowing for time to submit a review of [the] determination."

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then if we go to the top of the first page - this is Ms Kakish
to Nada Mardini. Can you see - it basically says:

"Gilbert spoke to me ... putting together information to lodge a review..."
And then ultimately, she says:

"Can we hold off until a review is submitted? He does have 6 months for a review
however around 6 weeks has already passed."

MR BENNETT: Yes.
MS McDONALD: And -

COMMISSIONER: Do you know what the review process entails that's being
discussed in this correspondence?

MR BENNETT: So it's an appeal process under the legislation. So under the
Environmental Planning and Assessment Act, if council issues a determination,
whether it's an approval and conditions aren't agreed with or a refusal, the recipient
can appeal that within six months.

COMMISSIONER: So what's being - the review is being - that's being referred to
here - [ know you're not a party to these emails, but the review would seem to be a
review of the decision on the DA?

MR BENNETT: That's right. The decision for the refusal of the DA.

COMMISSIONER: Thank you.

LCC Inquiry —20.11.2025 P-3529 Transcript by Law In Order



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

MS McDONALD: And then if we bring up LCC.004.003.0120. Again, you're not
party to this, but it's just setting out when you - you re-enter.

MR BENNETT: Okay.

MS McDONALD: This can be live streamed. If we just go to page 3 to begin with.
This is an email that I just took you to from Mr Chalain about the final warning and
can you hold off, basically.

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then if we go across to page 2, Mr Day responds:

"Good afternoon ... [the] warning ... provided 28 days ... In response to your
representations, that time frame has been extended [I'm sorry] to 28 days from
today's date to allow either a further application to be lodged or alternatively for the
Orders to be complied with ... no further extensions..."

And then if we go to the first page this is from Mr De Chalain thanking David, and:
"We will do our best to have a review of determination..."

And then immediately above that there's a reference from Ms Mardini:

"Tried calling Councillor Goodman and he didn't answer."

Do you know anything about Councillor Goodman's involvement or -

MR BENNETT: I don't recall Councillor Goodman being involved on that one, but,
yes.

MS McDONALD: Okay. Now, this is where you are now becoming involved.
Could we bring up LCC.033.001.0080. It can be live streamed. And if we can go to
page 4. Sorry, can you see there - and I'll take you to this email - you're acting
manager Community Standards at this point?

MR BENNETT: Yes. That's right.

MS McDONALD: If we go down the bottom of the page, an email from Lina
Kakish to you, 31 March. And you can see in the subject details there's this third
property?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And Ms Kakish says:
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"The owners have made representations about holding off on compliance ... until the
DA at 575 Fifteenth Avenue is determined. I'm happy to endorse an extension..."

And then she makes comments about the DA team took a year to issue an RFI, et
cetera.

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: So I really don't want to get into it, but there seems to be a fourth
property involved, 575?

MR BENNETT: I don't believe 575 is a fourth property. I think that's possibly a
typo.

MS McDONALD: It should be just 615?

MR BENNETT: I'd say so. As happens a lot, things may come through the director
from other parties, and they may misquote an address. So I think it's the wrong
address.

MS McDONALD: I'm very relieved there isn't a fourth property.

MR BENNETT: Yes. I'm not aware of 575 being anything -

MS McDONALD: Okay. If we go back to the bottom of page 3, you respond with:

"I have had some background involvement with this matter ... ongoing for a number
of years, including Local Court prosecution. This did not deter the operators..."

And then you make a comment about legal services.

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then if we go across the page, you then refer to the DA:
"...this application could ... be months from determination and even if approved, then
additional time to commence the consent and prepare the other site for the intended
transfer of the use."

And you say:

"There appears to be little merit in holding off the current action particularly where
the operators have used the court and planning systems to benefit financially over a
prolonged period of time. I recall [a] meeting ... a long time ago and in the interim

nothing on the site has changed."

MR BENNETT: That's right. Yes.
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MS McDONALD: And then if we now go to page 2, there is a reference - this is
from Ms Kakish to you:

"Confirming our discussion this afternoon. I spoke with the CEO about this site and
the other site, which is subject to the same enforcement oversight, and those owners

also have a DA at 615 ... which was refused."

Then in the next paragraph she refers to the delays they've experienced with DA
assessment:

"...spoke to the CEO ... who confirmed that he is happy for enforcement action to be
put on [a] pause..."

And then across the page:

"Further to our discussion about DAs lodged on sites pending enforcement action,
I'm pleased to hear that David has some sort of register put together..."

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Just pausing there, that question of a register being created which
would include where - I take it it's where a site is subject to enforcement action but a
DA has been lodged? That's going to be a general register?

MR BENNETT: I think - I think it's just in general for regulatory action on
properties, and whether DAs or lodged or not - I think David was putting it all
together to keep a track of them.

MS McDONALD: It wasn't specific to 615 or 370?

MR BENNETT: Yes. That's right. Yes.

MS McDONALD: All right. And then if we -

COMMISSIONER: What's the date of this?

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry?

COMMISSIONER: What's the date of this?

MS McDONALD: April 3, 2023.

COMMISSIONER: And the CEO is Mr Ajaka?

MS McDONALD: Ajaka, yes.
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MR BENNETT: At the time, yes.

MS McDONALD: Yes. And if we go to the bottom of the first page, you say:
"Please refer to Lina's advice below, which also relates to 615."

And then at the top of the page, page 1, David Day says:

"Hi Rob, noted. Will be placed on hold."

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: All right. Can we bring up, please, LCC.004.003.0852. 0852.
Could you just excuse me for a minute. Before we live stream it, let's bring up the
gﬁfglli?;nt. LCC.004.003.0852. And if we can just go through the document just very

COMMISSIONER: You didn't see this, Mr - it's now blacked out, but for a moment
it wasn't.

MR PARISH: (Indistinct).

COMMISSIONER: It was for a microsecond, so - I don't know what it said, but in
any event, is that the issue of concern, that bit that's been redacted?

MS McDONALD: Could you excuse me. Sorry. Maybe if we can have a look at
page 3.

COMMISSIONER: Good to go, I think.

MS McDONALD: Yes. We can live stream it. Can you see this - we're now on 12
April - an email from Ms Kakish to you.

MR BENNETT: Yes, I can sece that.

MS McDONALD: With:

"Urgent court attendance notice."

And there's a reference to:

"These owners received this court order despite my direction to hold off on both sites
until DAs are determined subject to the same issues following my discussions with

the CEO."

Then there's a reference to speaking with legal. And then:
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"Could you please advise mayor's office of where to from now with respect to this
matter (letter attached).”

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: I'll just take you through the series of emails. If we go across to
page 2 - and this is your response:

"This is a different site. Our discussions and your email were relating to 575 and 615
Fifteenth Avenue. The CAN is for 370 ... has been with Legal Services for some time
and had previous Local Court attendance. My understanding is there has never been
a DA for 370 ... or the intention to lodge one."

MR BENNETT: That's right.

MS McDONALD: And just the reference to the CAN - and again, I took you
through this earlier today, in respect of 370 there were two prosecutions.

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: There was the CAN that was then dealt with, and I think it was
about March or April 20227?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: There was a second CAN. And can we bring up
LCC.001.005.0676. Yes, please. Can you see this is the court attendance notice, just
with the "received" stamp from Courthouse Liverpool. It's 6 April 20237

MR BENNETT: Yes, I can sece that.

MS McDONALD: And if you move down the page, the defendant's Future Form
Group Australia. And if you look at Place of Offence, it is 370 Fifth Avenue.

MR BENNETT: Fifteenth. Yes.

MS McDONALD: Fifteenth, I'm sorry, Avenue. And is it your understanding this is
the second court attendance notice?

MR BENNETT: It would be, yes.

MS McDONALD: And if we can go back to that email chain, which was - you've
got it up there, ending in 0852? Where you refer to "different site", "it's 370", and as
you say:

"My understanding is there's never been a DA for 370 ... or the intention to lodge
one."
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MR BENNETT: That's correct.

COMMISSIONER: Is the CAN that you're referring to in this email the one that
was just momentarily on the screen?

MR BENNETT: The one that we were just shown before this, yes.

MS McDONALD: Now, I think - I haven't got a redacted version. Can we go to the
first page? All right, that all disappears, and then if we go to the top - the top of the
page, you forward that to David Day and Leanne Bourne?

MR BENNETT: Yes. That's right.

MS McDONALD: Excuse me for a second. Before we leave that, can we go back to
page 3 and the email from Ms Kakish dated 12 April at 3.36? She says:

"Could you please advise mayor's office of where to from now with respect to this
matter."

It's got, "letter attached". Do you recall what the letter was?
MR BENNETT: I don't - I can't recall that at the moment.

MS McDONALD: Right. And where she requests you to advise the mayor's office
of "where to from now" can you recall did you do that?

MR BENNETT: I don't recall responding to the mayor, from memory I only went
back to Lina just to confirm that there had been a misunderstanding with the address.

MS McDONALD: Excuse me for a minute. Sorry. And then I think we're coming to
the end of your involvement, if we go to LCC.004.003.0850? Yes. Yes, I don't think
there's any legal advice there. If - this again is the end of an email chain. If we go
down the bottom, you can see the email - there's an email that I took you to from Ms
Kakish on 41 Wynyard Avenue:

"Confirming our discussion this afternoon I spoke with the CEO"

Et cetera.

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then if we go to the top of page 1, you email - is it William
Attard and David Galpin -

MR BENNETT: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: - with:

"Hi, William and David, please refer to Lina's previous email direction - relates to
her email yesterday afternoon about CAN for 370."

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And could you just excuse me for a minute?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Excuse me. There is - there are - there's other documentation
about what is occurring with - I'll put the DA was 615 and also there's other
correspondence about the property in Wynyard Avenue. The documents we've
received it appears that your involvement now ends?

MR BENNETT: Most likely. I think - I might have had one more stint on acting
that year, but I probably didn't have a lot of involvement with it after that, from
memory.

MS McDONALD: And from the spreadsheet that we received from the council, if
we can bring up again, I think it's LCC.004.003.0214. Go to Application. It

would - if you look at the final DA on that spreadsheet, 588, is it, of 2023, again
following it along, can you see that it was lodged in November 2023 and there
appears to be a decision date in November 20247

MR BENNETT: Yes, I can see that.

MS McDONALD: And as it records there it was approved?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: No further questions.

COMMISSIONER: Thank you. Anything from anybody? No?

MS RICHARDSON: I -

COMMISSIONER: Yes, of course.

MS McDONALD: Do you need the lectern?

MS RICHARDSON: Mr Bennett, my name is Ms Richardson and I'm appearing on
behalf of the mayor. I have a couple of quick questions. You started in some form of

compliance role at the council in about November of 2017; is that right?

MR BENNETT: That's right. Yes.
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MS RICHARDSON: And does that mean from about that day - that time you were
generally aware of compliance actions that the council was taking?

MR BENNETT: Generally, yes. There was a number of them.

MS RICHARDSON: And were you aware that in 2020 under the previous - the
mayor at the time was Ms Wendy Waller, you were in some type of compliance role
at that time; is that correct?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS RICHARDSON: That an issue arose in respect of a place called the Burns
Outdoor Obstacle Training Facility?

MR BENNETT: I do recall that one, yes.
MS RICHARDSON: Pardon?
MR BENNETT: I do recall that one, yes.

MS RICHARDSON: Thank you. And you're aware - I can take you to documents,
if - because it's not a memory test.

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS RICHARDSON: You told me - you've got a barrister here to assist you if you
would like to see some documents, but are you aware that during - in that period in
2020 that the owners of that training facility centre had been issued with various
orders that you've described today in answer to questions they were issued with - I
can tell you from documents, they were issued with a notice of proposed stop use
order, demolish works order and restore works order of that year? Does that sound
familiar?

MR BENNETT: It sounds pretty consistent, yes.

MS RICHARDSON: And - so they were potentially facing prosecution if they
didn't comply with those orders; correct?

MR BENNETT: Potentially, yes.

MS RICHARDSON: And you're aware that - in response, that the - Mayor Wendy
Waller issued a mayoral direction? Are you aware of this?

MR BENNETT: I remember there was some involvement on behalf of the owners,
yes.
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MS RICHARDSON: So to your understanding, the owners made representations to
various councillors, including Mayor Waller; correct?

MR BENNETT: I couldn't remember of the top of my head about Mayor Waller,
but I remember that that actually went to some councillors, yes.

MS RICHARDSON: And you're aware that Mayor Waller actually moved a
mayoral direction in relation to this issue?

MR BENNETT: I do recall that there was something, once again, about the
rezoning of the property, I believe.

MS RICHARDSON: In terms of the rezoning you're referring to, is it - do you
recall - I will hand up the direction to you, but just tell me whether you're aware of
this - that in response to that - I'll call it the training facility for short - the training
facility being the subject of those official notices for which they faced potential
prosecution, that the mayor issued or moved on a mayoral direction at a council
meeting?

MR BENNETT: I believe so.

MS RICHARDSON: I'll just hand up a copy of that to you. I'm handing you up a
bundle of things, but I'm going to ask you just to look at the last page.

MR BENNETT: Thank you.

MS McDONALD: Sorry, can you just give that version to the Commissioner?
COMMISSIONER: Thank you.

MS RICHARDSON: So just - so you see there on the first page - we see there from
Landscape an issues and options report, potential amendment to Liverpool Local
Environmental Plan to permit a recreation facility, outdoor, at 25 Dwyer Road,
Bringelly?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS RICHARDSON: Am I pronouncing that suburb correctly?

MR BENNETT: Bringelly, yes.

MS RICHARDSON: Bringelly?

MR BENNETT: No, Bringelly.

MS RICHARDSON: Bringelly. And you see there it recounts that on 28 August the
mayor issued a mayoral direction, pursuant to the relevant section of the Local
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Government Act, requiring the acting CEO to prepare a report that details options
available to council to amend the Liverpool - use shorthand, LEP - to permit with
development consent a recreation facility, outdoor, at 25 Dwyer Road, Bringelly. Do
you see that?

MR BENNETT: Yes, I can see that.

MS RICHARDSON: And then in the next paragraph it outlines the various official
stop use orders and demolish and restore works orders that had been formally issued
to that entity; correct?

MR BENNETT: Yes. That's right.

MS RICHARDSON: And if you wouldn't mind turning to the final page of that
bundle - I apologise, it's a bit blurry. Can you read that? Yes. The document headed
Mayoral Direction.

MR BENNETT: Yes, I've got that.

MS RICHARDSON: And just so we're talking about the same thing, down the
bottom it's got the signature of Mayor Wendy Waller. Do you see that? It's the last
physical page of that bundle.

MR BENNETT: I see. Got that one there. Yes.

MS RICHARDSON: And we see the signature down the bottom of Mayor Wendy
Waller and the acting CEO Eddie Jackson?

MR BENNETT: Yes, I can see that.

MS RICHARDSON: And we see there the terms of the mayoral direction that was
passed on 28 August 2020. Do you see that?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS RICHARDSON: And it's the case, isn't it, that those steps were taken in
accordance with that direction, to your - do you know whether the acting CEO

Mr Jackson acted in accordance with that direction he received to prepare an issues
and options report about, in effect, how the LEP could be changed to accommodate
this non-conforming site?

MR BENNETT: I'm aware it occurred.
MS RICHARDSON: It occurred? And it was - was the LEP ultimately changed?

MR BENNETT: I believe so. So I wasn't involved in that, but I believe that
occurred, yes.
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MS RICHARDSON: Given your knowledge of this particular issue at council, were
you aware of whether it was well-known in council or the community that - that this
response had been taken to the training facility and its non-compliance with the
planning laws at the time?

MS McDONALD: Well, I object. There's two propositions there, whether it's
well-known within council and the community -

MS RICHARDSON: I'll break it down. Starting piece by piece, was it well-known
within council that a decision had been made to direct the acting CEO to do an
options paper to work out how to change the LEP in order to accommodate a
non-complying site? Was that well-known within council that that approach was
being taken?

MR BENNETT: I wouldn't say it was well-known. Certainly people in that area
may have known about it, but I don't think, as a council, they were all - well-known
about it.

MS RICHARDSON: So people in the relevant area, being the compliance area?

MR BENNETT: Not necessarily in compliance. Possibly people in the planning
directorate who were involved in that rezoning. We would have been just informed
that that was either happening or that it had happened.

MS RICHARDSON: And were you aware at the time of any dissatisfaction from
constituents in the Liverpool area that some - some people with non-complying sites
got certain treatment and other people got different treatment? Were you aware of
that level of dissatisfaction from the constituents at the time?

MR BENNETT: I think that's - I mean, in a lot of council areas people think that
they're hard done by compared to others, but certainly in Liverpool it does happen,
yes.

MS RICHARDSON: And are you aware of any dissatisfaction arising from the
treatment the owners of this facility got, in terms of a direction that option papers be
worked out, how to change the LEP (indistinct)? Are you aware of dissatisfaction
arising from that?

MR BENNETT: I'm aware that a concerned resident nearby to the site was
concerned after the fact, but I'm not aware -

MS McDONALD: Sorry, I didn't hear that.

MR BENNETT: The - the actual - there was a concerned resident that we were
dealing with the request for initially. They weren't happy with the outcome, they
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wanted something to be done. But I don't know about the greater community. I never
heard from anyone else.

MS RICHARDSON: Thank you. Those are my questions.
COMMISSIONER: Thank you. Mr Parish, anything from you?
MR PARISH: No, Commissioner.

COMMISSIONER: Ms Hamilton-Jewell?

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: No. Thank you, Commissioner.
MR RAMRAKHA: No questions.

COMMISSIONER: Anything arising?

MS McDONALD: Could you just excuse me.

COMMISSIONER: Whilst that's happening, I'll just mark the bundle of documents
shown to Mr Bennett in the witness box as MFI 38.

<MFI #38 - BUNDLE OF DOCUMENTS SHOWN TO MR BENNETT
MR RAMRAKHA: Commissioner, I might have just one question, just -
COMMISSIONER: Yes. Of course.

MR RAMRAKHA: Perhaps it would assist you and assist the inquiry.
COMMISSIONER: Sure.

MR RAMRAKHA: This is just a general question - sort of general questions. You
might have a property which is non-compliant in some way, maybe because it's
storing certain items that it's not permitted to store. Correct?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MR RAMRAKHA: And the action taken against that property, leading to
prosecution, leading to a CAN, perhaps - and a prosecution in the Local Court.
Correct?

MR BENNETT: That's certainly possible, yes.

MR RAMRAKHA: And that CAN will be dated - or the contravention will be

dated - so, say, a contravention from 1 May 2005 to 31 December 2025 - that's the
period of the offending; correct?
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MR BENNETT: That's certainly possible, yes.

MR RAMRAKHA: So it often happens that after that period - so that person will
then - they plead and be sentenced in the Local Court; correct?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MR RAMRAKHA: But what normally happens in many cases is that the
contravention is continuing; correct?

MR BENNETT: That does happen a lot, yes.

MR RAMRAKHA: So there will be another CAN issued potentially in relation to
this same property, in relation to the same - continuing contravention; correct?

MR BENNETT: There can be multiple CANs for the same issue, yes.

MR RAMRAKHA: But it's - this is the sort of framework that I want to, sort of,
have in your mind - that it is - in the interests of everybody in that sort of
circumstance for DAs - or steps to be taken so that people purge their
non-compliance; correct?

MR BENNETT: That's right. It would save time and resources for council if
something that can be regularised was regularised.

MR RAMRAKHA: Sure, because under the Act, for example, if the - if, say, the
items aren't removed from the property, it remains - it remains a non-compliant
property?

MR BENNETT: An ongoing issue for us.

MR RAMRAKHA: An ongoing issue. And this can be actually - it can be quite
significant, say - sort of, taking a different example, say you have asbestos in the
land. Correct?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MR RAMRAKHA: And there is a requirement to remove this - the asbestos from
the land; correct?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MR RAMRAKHA: And that is actually a continuing requirement. It has to actually
happen at some point?

MR BENNETT: That's right. Unless it's finalised.

LCC Inquiry —20.11.2025 P-3542 Transcript by Law In Order



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

MR RAMRAKHA: Yes. And so there is - within this regulatory framework, there
is - it's important that steps are taken to purge the non-compliance, if I can put it that
way?

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MR RAMRAKHA: Thanks. They're the questions.

COMMISSIONER: Thank you.

MS McDONALD: You were asked some questions about this directive issued by
Mayor Waller. Could we bring up, please, INQ.001.001.0899, please. The particular
site - and I'm sorry, I've forgotten -

COMMISSIONER: Burns Outdoor Obstacle Training Facility.

MS McDONALD: Thank you. That - yes. Sorry. Thank you. I'm just looking at the
document that you were handed by Ms Richardson.

COMMISSIONER: You've still got it, Mr Bennett?
MR BENNETT: I've still got it, yes.

MS McDONALD: The pages might be out of order, but I'm looking at a page which
has got a photograph of the facility.

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Have you got that?

MR BENNETT: I've got that here, yes.

MS McDONALD: And I'm just looking - at above Site Description, it's got this:
"There has been a strong community response in support of the continued operation."
And then there's a reference to change.org petition:

"...which has to date received over 5,000 signatures."

MR BENNETT: Yes.

MS McDONALD: So when you were asked question about concern within the

community about a mayoral directive being issued there was also evidence of
support for the continuation of this obstacle training course?
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MR BENNETT: There was a lot of local support for it, yes.

MS McDONALD: And I'm just bringing up the minutes of the ordinary meeting
held on 30 September 2020. And if we can go through to page 23, please. Can you
see this was an item number, and you can see under the subject:

"Issues and Options Report - Potential amendment to [the LEP] to permit..."

I'll just call it the outside facility. You can see that?

MR BENNETT: Yes, I can see that.

MS McDONALD: And then you've got the council decision, the motion, which
includes - if I, again, can just describe - putting into play the change or the
amendment to the LEP?

MR BENNETT: Yes. That's right.

MS McDONALD: And then you can see the result:

"On being put to the meeting the motion was declared carried."

And:

"[The] councillors voted unanimously for this motion."

MR BENNETT: That's right. That's what it says.

MS McDONALD: Can you just excuse me. No further questions.

COMMISSIONER: Thank you. Mr Bennett, that brings your evidence to a close.
I'm very grateful for your attendance and your assistance today.

MR BENNETT: Thank you.

COMMISSIONER: You're free to go for the moment. I'm asked, with all witnesses,
not just you, not to release anyone formally from their summons at the moment, but
we are rapidly approaching the end of the hearing block, so I hope to be able to
communicate to you via your legal representatives very shortly that you're formally
released from your summons. But you're free to go for today, with my thanks for
your attendance.

MR BENNETT: Thank you.

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW
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MS McDONALD: Commissioner, sorry, I was distracted. The document about the
mayoral direction, that's been marked?

COMMISSIONER: MFI 38.

MS McDONALD: Thank you very much. That's the end of the witnesses we have
for today. Tomorrow it is anticipated we will be starting with Mr Mannoun.

COMMISSIONER: 10 am?
MS McDONALD: Yes. Thank you.
COMMISSIONER: All right. I'll adjourn until 10 am. Thank you.

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED AT 3.04 PM
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